
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 1st June, 2017

10.00 am

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 1st June, 2017, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Partner and officer membership, to which County Council Members will be added, once 
known:

Ms H Carpenter, Mrs T Carpenter, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Ms L Fisher, 
Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms B Haskins, Mr A Heather, Ms N Khosla, 
Mrs C Moody, Ms C  Mutton and Mr P Segurola

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

The Chairman will open the meeting. The first item of business will be a motion to exclude 
the press and public for item 1, as set out below.

MOTION TO EXCLUDE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT BUSINESS
That, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

1 The views of Young People in Care - update on post-adoption support services 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open the public)

2 Terms of Reference and Membership (Pages 5 - 8)



Although, at the time of preparing the agenda, the full membership of the Panel 
had not been announced, a copy of the Panel’s Terms of Reference is attached 
for information. The Panel’s membership will be announced and updated online 
as soon as it is known.

3 Apologies and substitutes 

4 Election of Vice-Chairman 

5 Minutes of the meetings of the Panel held on 20 March and 25 May 2017 (the 
latter to follow) (Pages 9 - 12)

6 Chairman's Announcements 

7 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

8 Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards (Pages 13 - 16)

9 Advocacy and Independent Visitors Services, provided by the Young Lives 
Foundation - report on activity 2016/17 (Pages 17 - 32)

10 Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) film - 'Chairing your own review' 

11 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 33 - 44)

12 Statement of Purpose - Fostering Service (Pages 45 - 84)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

John Lynch,
Head of Democratic Services
03000 410466

Tuesday, 23 May 2017

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



INFORMATION ITEM

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL – TERMS OF REFERENCE (April 2016)

The Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) is a multi-agency forum made up of Kent 
County Council’s elected councillors representing all parties as well as the multi-
agency partners in Kent who are responsible for delivering good and effective 
corporate parenting for children and young people.

The Panel confirms the joint commitment to improving services and outcomes for 
children and care leavers for whom the Council is corporate parent.  The Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of the Panel will be drawn from the Kent County Council’s 
elected councillors.

The Panel’s role is to lead on ensuring the corporate parenting responsibilities of the 
multi-agency partnership are being met, in line with the Children Act 1989. Section 
22 of the Children Act 1989 sets out the general duty of the local authority in relation 
to children looked after by them; to safeguard and promote the welfare of these 
children, ensuring effective, individualised support and access to services.  This duty 
is inclusive of both children and young people with care orders and those provided 
with accommodation.

Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers Strategy 2015-16 sets out what good 
and effective corporate parenting looks like, alongside our key strategic objectives.  
The Strategy’s ambitions assist in the Council’s overarching vision that “Children and 
Young People in Kent get the best start in life”.

This commitment is one of three strategic outcomes which provide a simple and 
effective focus for everything the Council does; they are set out in Kent County 
Council’s Strategic Statement 2015-2020. 

The Corporate Parenting Panel is accountable:
 To the County Council and the Cabinet Member for Children, Young 

People and Education
 To looked after children, care leavers and their carers or guardians
 To each respective member on the Panel and the relevant senior 

management team of each agency that is represented.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Corporate Parenting Panel:
 To develop expertise about services for and issues affecting children and 

young people, both in care and leaving care; in doing so, elected 
councillors are enabled to fulfil their role as corporate parenting 
champions and advocates for Kent children who are looked after, and 
those leaving local authority care

 To provide the multi-agency strategic direction for services and projects 
working to achieve good outcomes for both children in local authority and 
leaving care

 To actively raise the awareness of other elected councillors, the Cabinet 
and the County Council to the whole Council’s corporate parenting 
responsibilities towards Kent’s looked after children and care leavers

 To oversee and challenge progress and performance against the 
objectives within Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers Strategy. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



INFORMATION ITEM

The Strategy consists of four priority areas which represent the corporate 
parenting ambitions for children and young people both in care and 
leaving care.  The four priority areas are:
1. Working together and learning;
2. Developing into successful and responsible adults;
3. Being emotionally, mentally and physically healthy; and
4. Feeling safe and nurtured in a home setting.

 To consider any changes arising from relevant legislation, guidance or 
reviews

 To lead on ensuring that the corporate parenting roles and responsibilities 
of the Local Authority are being met, including:
 Local expectations and the promises made via Kent’s Pledge to 

Looked after Children and Kent’s Care Leavers Charter; 
 To be aware of national expectations regarding the services to looked 

after children (including unaccompanied asylum seeking children 
(UASC)) and care leavers; including those contained in reports from 
the Office of the Children’s Commissioner, the adoption reform agenda, 
changes to permanent planning and the commitment to ‘staying put’;

 To creatively consider ways in which the Corporate Parenting Panel  
will hear and respond to the views of looked after children, care 
leavers, their parents and carers; 

 To have an understanding of the arrangements that need to be in place 
in order to be an effective corporate parent;

 To undertake an in-depth analysis of the needs of the County Council’s 
care population and all aspects of the service required to meet those 
needs, so there is clear evidence to inform future action;

 To take action continually, in conjunction with officers and partner 
agencies, to improve services and ensure it is responsive and meeting 
changing needs; and

 To report in a timely manner to the relevant local member(s) as and 
when such may be required

 To support the chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel and the 
Cabinet Member and Deputy Cabinet  Members for Children, Young 
People and Education in undertaking their specialist level 3 corporate 
parenting responsibilities (National Children’s Bureau, Hart and Williams 
2013)

 To highlight the issues relevant for scrutiny
 To act as the governing body to the Virtual School for Kent
 To consider reports from the Kent Safeguarding Children’s Board (KSCB), 

0-25 Health and Wellbeing Board and Children’s, Young People and 
Education Cabinet Committee in relation to looked after children and care 
leavers

 To consider statistical information about both looked after children and 
care leavers’ health and wellbeing and attainment.  To ensure that 
Corporate Parenting Panel members have enough background 
knowledge to understand and evaluate this information

 To work alongside Our Children and Young People’s Council in order to 
gather feedback from all those involved in and working with/on behalf of 
looked after children and care leavers.  This will include ongoing 
engagement with foster carers and other user groups.

Page 6



INFORMATION ITEM

The merger of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group and the Corporate Parenting 
Panel took effect from 1 April 2016, with the aim of bringing together elected 
councillors and multi-agency partners in a forum which would ensure the best 
interests of all looked after children in Kent’s care are given the highest priority and 
would help to shape the Council’s agenda.

Membership of the Panel includes foster carers and representatives of clinical 
commissioning groups, advocacy groups, Children in Care Councils and care 
leavers, as well as County Council officers.  In addition, when the membership was 
last discussed by the Panel, in January 2017, it was agreed that representatives of 
the Police and the Council’s Disabled Children’s Services be invited to join. 

The new elected councillor membership of the Panel had not been confirmed at the 
time of publishing this agenda but will be announced as soon as it is known. 

Administrative Support to the Panel is provided by: Theresa Grayell, Democratic 
Services Officer, telephone 03000 416172, email theresa.grayell@kent.gov.uk

Page 7

mailto:theresa.grayell@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Monday, 20 March 2017.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr R H Bird (Substitute for Mr M J Vye), Mrs P Brivio (Substitute for Mrs S Howes), 
Mrs P T Cole, Ms M Emptage (Substitute for Ms S Dunn), Ms L Fisher, Mr S Gray, 
Mr A Heather, Ms N Khosla, Ms D Marsh, Ms C  Mutton, Mr P Segurola, Mr A Terry 
and Mrs J Whittle

ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs S Skinner (Head of Adoption Service), Ms C Smith (Head of 
Fostering Service), Ms G O'Grady (Participation Co-ordinator, Specialist Children's 
Services) and Mr P Savage (Democratic Service Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

195. Membership 
(Item A1)

The Panel noted that, since the last meeting of the Panel, the following changes had 
been made to the Panel’s Membership:

 Reece Graves and Chloe Mutton had joined the Panel, in place of Bella Taylor 
and to fill the vacant VSK seat. 

 Alan Terry had joined the Panel, in place of Bob Neaves.

196. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 20 January 2017 
(Item A3)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel’s meeting held on 20 January 2017 were 
correctly recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.  There were no matters 
arising.

197. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item A4)

The Chairman reported that she was being interviewed by OFSTED on 21 March 
2017as OFSTED were interested in the issue of corporate parenting.

198. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A5)

1. Ms Mutton gave a verbal update on recent work undertaken by the 
participation team on behalf of the Children in Care Councils (CICCs), the 
Super Council and Young Adult Council (YAC).  The text of the update is 
appended to these minutes.

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



2. In response to questions from the Panel to Ms Mutton, Ms O’Grady and Ms 
Smith, and in subsequent discussion, the following points were raised:

 Young people were assisting with the development of the 
commissioning documents and the process for interviewing and 
evaluating foster care providers of the future by identifying important 
needs for children in care

 Many foster carers would appreciate the important factors as reminders
 Young people were helping keep the conversation going between 

themselves, foster carers and the local authority
 Some of the initiatives being pursued would help participants to develop 

crucial life skills
3. The Panel would welcome a report on the IRO film entitled “Chairing your own 

review” and asked for it to be included in the work programme for the next 
meeting.

4. RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted with thanks.

199. Corporate Parenting - Challenge Cards 
(Item A6)

1. Officers introduced the report which provided Members with an overview of the 
Challenge Cards process, progress made and current challenges.

2. RESOLVED that Panel note the Challenge Card process and progress to date 
and request that quarterly updates be submitted on issues and requirements.

200. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A7)

1. Mr P.J. Oakford gave a verbal update on the following issues:
 He had attended the foster carer awards event on 8 February 2017 

which had included a couple who had fostered 55 children over 35 
years

 He had also attended the CFCA foster family celebration on 5 March 
2017 at which 144 had participated.  This involved total families – ie all 
parents/carers with both foster and birth children

 He was lobbying Kent MPs on the issue of other local authorities 
placing their foster children in Kent: this had already resulted in a 
television interview of Sir Roger Gale, MP, and was likely to involve a 
meeting with all Kent’s MPs

 Unaccompanied asylum seeking children: there was nothing significant 
to report on this area at this time.  Numbers continued to remain much 
lower than the peak of 2015 with the national dispersal programme 
working effectively since July 2016.  There were 725 known care 
leavers which might result in pressures in the future

2. In response to comments and questions from the Panel, Mr Oakford explained 
the following:

 He had lobbied ministers and MPs on the issue of tracing out of 
authority placements and would also raise with OFSTED when he was 
interviewed as part of the current review.  It was important to remember 
that these children remained the responsibility of the placing authority

 Private fostering continued both with friends and family and also 
through independent fostering agencies, which was especially popular 
with London boroughs.  It was a significant issue with language schools 

Page 10



and work was underway in terms of assuring that adequate checks and 
safeguards were in place.

 There were 321 young people from Kent in out of authority placements
3. RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted.

201. Kent Adoption Service - Statement of Purpose 
(Item B1)

1. Ms Skinner introduced the report. The Statement of Purpose set out the 
framework for Kent County Council’s Adoption Service, as required under the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002, the Adoption Agencies Regulations and 
Guidance 2013 and the Adoption National Minimum Standards (Care 
Standards Act 2000).  In discussion the following comments were made:

 Members of the Panel agreed that good work was being undertaken but 
would welcome more data to monitor

 There had been 77 adoptions since April 2016 which was a slight 
reduction on the past year but was in excess of the target.  Average 
adoption times were quicker than previously.  This was also a national 
problem and it was agreed to raise with Members of Parliament and 
Ministers

 Data would be produced on the breakdown rates of Special 
Guardianship Orders

 The information contained in this document about partnership agencies 
such as Barnado’s was appropriate for the public domain and was 
available on websites

 Recommendations were made to amend and re-order the core values 
 Mentoring was available to all new adoptive parents but was not 

compulsory
 The Intercountry Adoption Centre was a statutory requirement which 

involved very few children and was certainly not used as a recruitment 
route for adoptions

2.RESOLVED that (1) the Panel supported the aim to develop the range of 
services provided and their suitability to meet the needs of adoptees and their 
families in order to provide an ‘Outstanding’ service; and (2) it be 
recommended that the core values be amended so as the second and third 
bullet points be reversed in order and the word “prospective” be deleted from 
the penultimate bullet point.

202. Placement Stability - 'Sense of Belonging' 
(Item B2)

1. Ms Smith introduced the report which outlined the Kent offer to foster carers to 
create and provide increased placement stability.  There were three 
components of the newly developed ‘Sense of Belonging’ offer; this offer 
created choices for foster carers, children and young people that allowed them 
to consider what would provide the best opportunities for children to thrive and 
develop in their placements and prevent further disruption. Kent Fostering 
Service was proposing the implementation of additional support for their most 
vulnerable fostering placements, where additional pressures upon the foster 
carers meant there was a higher risk of a placement breakdown.  In discussion 
the following comments were made:

Page 11



 Panel members welcomed the initiative and supported the inclusion of 
Ms Chloe Mutton as a member of the commissioning panel.

2. RESOLVED that (1) the initiative be noted and (2) Ms Chloe Mutton serve on 
the commissioning panel for selection of provider.

203. Conclusion 
(Item )

This being the last meeting of the Administration, Chairman thanked all members of 
the Panel for their service over the past four years and especially thanked Ms Jenny 
Whittle who had indicated that she would no longer be available to serve on the 
Panel.

Page 12



From Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel - 1 June 2017

Subject: CORPORATE PARENTING CHALLENGE CARDS

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: This report is intended to provide Members of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of progress made and the 
current challenges.

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the content of this report.

1. Introduction

1.1 In February 2015, through consultation with young care leavers and children in 
care, the Virtual School Kent (VSK) Participation and Engagement Team 
developed the concept of ‘Challenge Cards.’ 

1.2 The initiative came about through various discussions at Kent’s Children in Care 
Council (OCYPC) meetings, where young people told us that they would like a 
formal way to have the opportunity of having their voices heard by their 
Corporate Parents and by the decision makers in the Council.  The young 
people also wanted a way to be able to ‘challenge’ or make suggestions about 
how improvements could be made to the care system.  The idea of the 
Challenge Card evolved and these cards allow Children in Care (CiC) and Care 
Leavers to challenge their Corporate Parents around issues facing them in care. 

2. Process

1.2 A process was then agreed and was signed off by the Corporate Parenting 
Panel (CPP) and is outlined below. 

 Any young person in care or Care Leaver can raise a Challenge.  The 
challenge is then taken to one of the Children in Care Councils (Super 
Council (the Junior Council), OCYPC or the Young Adults Council 
(YAC)).  A challenge can also be raised at a Children in Care Council 
meeting.  The Challenge is then discussed and if it is agreed upon by 
three or more members it is agreed

 Agreed Challenges are then taken forward to the CiC Meetings where 
the Lead Officer will review and a decision will be taken in the meeting 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



as to whether the Challenge is actionable.  If the Challenge is 
actionable the Lead Officer will delegate responsibility to a senior officer 
for action.

 The delegated officer will then action the challenge and will update the 
VSK Participation and Engagement (P&E) Team with the outcome of 
the Challenge

 At the next CiC Council meeting the Chairperson will update the CiC 
Council as to the outcome of the Challenge.  The CiC Council will have 
an opportunity to advise if they are satisfied with the outcome and will 
sign off the card.  The VSK P&E Team will be on hand to support and 
advise if there are particular reasons as to why a Challenge cannot be 
actioned.  (Sometimes Challenges received are personal child specific 
issues; these are discussed with the young person and then passed 
onto their Social Worker or Personal Advisor for resolution and other 
times the challenges are on a large scale with significant cost 
implications and therefore potentially slower to resolve)

 VSK Care Leaver Apprentices who are co-opted as members of the 
CPP provide regular updates to the Panel as to the outcome of the 
Challenge Cards.  CPP also comment and advise on Challenges where 
necessary

 Outcomes of Challenges are disseminated to CiC who are not Council 
members via the VSK Newsletters that published three times a year.

 Challenge cards are discussed at every Super Council, OCYPC and 
YAC meeting

 A detailed log is kept by the VSK P&E Team recording the Challenges, 
responsible officers, outcomes and updates to young people.

3. Current Challenges

3.1 For KCC to provide a young person’s railcard to YAC members to help 
them with their travel costs as a reward for becoming a YAC member.  It 
would make jobs more accessible, and encourage independence.

Action: Responsible Officer – Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting.
Costs: The cost for this is estimated at 16 young people x £30 per railcard and 
so a total cost of £480.
Outcome: This challenge is approved and the cost will come out of the VSK 
P&E Budget 2017/18.  With regular attendance from members, this could 
potentially save Kent County Council money.
Feedback to young people: This was fed back to YAC members and actioned 
at the meeting of 4 May 2017.

3.2 If a young person over school leaving age decided to be fully independent 
and work full time paying their own rent, would KCC as a 'Corporate 
Parent' act as the young person's guarantor.

Action: Responsible Officer – Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
Costs: N/A
Outcome: Kent County Council would not legally be able to undertake this role 
but the Care Leaving Service will cover the whole subject of accommodation 

Page 14



rights and entitlements with the new Transitions Workbooks and will continue to 
support care leavers as part of the day-to-day service provision.  With the 
current realignment towards a 0-25 children’s service model, services currently 
offered out of the district Youth Hubs are being mapped and the potential for 
care-leaver drop-ins is being developed.
Feedback to young people: This was fed back to YAC members at the 
meeting of 4 May 2017.

3.3 That KCC could run a skills demo day where local businesses could be 
invited to show young people practical skills for example bleeding a 
radiator, being able to turn the water and electricity off and other general 
household jobs.
Action: Responsible Officer – Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
Costs: To be identified
Outcome: This has been picked up by Nick Crick and the 18+ Leaving Care 
Service and, in conjunction with the Participation and Engagement Team.  
Together there is a plan to hold local area events two to three times a year 
across the county.  There is also a plan for ‘drop-ins’ for care leavers and this 
will provide opportunities for young people to engage with the service gaining 
advice about life skills and employment opportunities.
Feedback to young people: This was fed back to YAC members at the 
meeting on 4 May 2017.

4. Recommendation

4.1 Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the content of this report.

5. Contact Details

Lead Officers
Gemma O’Grady
Participation Co-ordinator, Virtual School Kent 
Mobile 07912 596646
Email gemma.o’grady@kent.gov.uk

Tony Doran
Headteacher, Virtual School Kent 
Mobile 07921038094
Email tony.doran@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 15

mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1 June 2017

Subject: ADVOCACY AND INDEPENDENT VISITORS SERVICES, 
PROVIDED BY THE YOUNG LIVES FOUNDATION – 
REPORT ON ACTIVITY 2016/17

Classification: Unrestricted 

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: A report on the Activity, Outputs and Outcomes of Young Lives 
Foundation’s Advocacy and Independent Visitors Services 2016/17.

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the information contained in the report and COMMENT on the issues, 
outputs and outcomes delivered by Young Lives Foundation across both services in 
the last year.

1. Introduction

1.1 Kent County Council is committed to ensuring that children and young people in 
their care are able to access effective Representation, Rights and Advocacy 
Services in line with National Legislation, Guidance and Standards and based 
on accepted principles of good practice.

1.2 Services are currently commissioned under a Representation, Rights and 
Advocacy Contract to an independent organisation, The Young Lives 
Foundation (YLF).  The contract commenced in April 2015 and is due to expire 
in March 2018.

1.3 The contract is for the provision of five statutory services to cover the Kent 
County Council geographical area and to service users out of county where the 
Local Authority is the appropriate agency.  Provision includes :

 Advocacy for Children in Care and for Care Leavers aged 16 to 24, 
children who are assessed as being in need or needing safe plans to be 
made for them and those subject to a child protection plan under the 
Children Act 1989

 Independent Visitors for Children in Care aged 8 to 18 years
 Independent Person for Stage 2 complaints under the Children Act 1989.
 Appropriate Adults Service for young people aged 10 to 17 years and 

vulnerable adults detained at Police Custody Suites who require support

Page 17

Agenda Item 9



 Accompanying Adults Service for the purpose of age assessment 
interviews for unaccompanied asylum seeking children.

1.4 This report summarises activity relating to the Advocacy and Independent 
Visitors Services.

2. Advocacy Service

2.1 A report summarising activity relating to the Advocacy Service for Children in 
Care and for Care Leavers aged 16 to 24, children assessed as being in need 
or needing safe plans to be made for them and those subject to a child 
protection plan under the Children Act 1989 is attached as Appendix 1.

3. Independent Visitors Service

3.5 A report summarising activity relating to the Independent Visitors Service for 
Children in Care are aged 8 to 18 years is attached as Appendix 2.

4. Conclusion
4.1 YLF is an established and reliable provider of Independent Representation, 

Rights and Advocacy Services ensuring capacity to meet the required 
commissioning outputs effectively within the timescales, despite the increases 
in demand across all services.  YLF’s Services are led by young people to 
ensure sustainable and positive outcomes are jointly achieved whilst offering 
significant added value.  Effective communication channels with Kent Specialist 
Children’s Services (SCS), Commissioners and other practitioners ensures any 
issues and concerns are addressed promptly so that our children and young 
people are heard, their voices are respected and valued in shaping the delivery 
of care across Kent.

5. Recommendations

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to CONSIDER the information 
contained in the report and COMMENT on the issues, outputs and outcomes 
delivered by Young Lives Foundation across both services in the last year.

6. Background documents: none

7. Contact Details:

Report Author
Stephen Gray, CEO Young Lives 
Foundation
01622 693459
Stephen.gray@ylf.org.uk 

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s 
Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 18

mailto:Stephen.gray@ylf.org.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Kent Corporate Parenting Panel | Appendix 1 
Young Lives Foundation | Advocacy Service 

 
 

1 
 

Making a Difference 

 

INTRODUCTION | What is Advocacy? 
 

“Advocacy is about speaking up for children and young people and ensuring their views and 

wishes are heard and acted upon by decision-makers.” (Get it Sorted Guidance, Department for 

Education and Skills, 2004) 

 

The Children Act 1989 (Section 26A) gives children in need, looked after children and care leavers 

a statutory right to advocacy support when young people are wishing to make a complaint or 

representation to the local authority. Revisions to the Children Act statutory guidance also 

support young people’s right to access more general advocacy support. The Young Lives 

Foundation Advocacy Service observes that many children and young people seek advocacy 

support without wishing to make a formal complaint. 

 

 Care Leavers: Planning Transition to Adulthood for Care Leavers 2010 |  Emphasises that 

independent advocacy can be particularly valuable at times when important decisions are 

being made about a child’s readiness to leave care and during significant transition 

periods. 

 The IRO Handbook 2010 | Before every review, the IRO should ensure that the child is 

aware of their right to an advocate and that they understand how to access one, and the 

role that they can play.  

 Care Planning, Placement and Case Review 2010 | Consideration must be given to 

securing the support of an advocate if a child has difficulty expressing their wishes and 

feelings about decisions being made for them.  

 National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services 2011 and National Minimum 

Standards for Children’s Homes 2011 | The National Minimum Standards emphasises 

that children should be supported to obtain an advocate if they would like help to express 

their wishes, feelings and views in statutory reviews.  
 

 

YLF’S ADVOCACY SERVICE  

YLF provides the Advocacy Service on behalf of Kent County Council under the Representation, 

Rights and Advocacy Contract.   Under this contract advocacy support is provided for children in 

care, care leavers and children in need as well as non-statutory advocacy for child protection 

conferences and family group conferences  

 

During the first 15 months of delivery, the Advocacy Service received almost double the number 

of referrals initially anticipated. This was partly due to the addition of non-statutory advocacy 

services to the contract for the first time for which referral numbers could not be predicted, as 

well as the sudden increase in number of children entering care during the summer of 2015.  

 

Page 19



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel | Appendix 1 
Young Lives Foundation | Advocacy Service 

 
 

2 
 

Making a Difference 

 

As a result, YLF and KCC reviewed the referral pathways for non-statutory advocacy. From 1st 

September 2016 all referrals for non-statutory advocacy (child protection and family group 

conference) are now required to be presented to KCC Access to Resources Panel for approval 

before being referred to the Advocacy Service. The service has since recorded a dramatic decline 

in non-statutory advocacy referrals.  

 

Advocacy at the Young Lives Foundation is ‘issue-based’,  meaning the advocacy intervention is 

intended to be short term advocacy and focuses on specific agreed issues raised by the young 

person until resolved, or until all possible support has been exhausted within the advocacy role. 

Frequently young people raise multiple or additional issues, which are particularly complex 

requiring advocacy support for a longer period of time.  
 

The Advocacy Team 

 

The advocacy team at the Young Lives Foundation comprises an Advocacy Manager, Advocacy 

Officer and 9 Advocates who are based across the county.  

 

The advocacy team holds a wealth of experience in providing independent advocacy to children 

and young people as well as experience and knowledge in teaching, mental health social work, 

fostering, adoption and therapeutic counselling.  

 

OUTPUTS 2016/17 
 

 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Breakdown of Referrals Year 2 

Year 2

Page 20



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel | Appendix 1 
Young Lives Foundation | Advocacy Service 

 
 

3 
 

Making a Difference 

 

 
 

Main Issues Presented by Young People April 2016 - March 2017 
 

Education 

A significant number of young people sought advocacy support in October 2016 for issues 

relating to their education. Young people reported not having received support to access 

education which included support to identify courses of interest, attend college interviews and 

enrolment days, and support with travel arrangements.  

Young people reported receiving inconsistent support and advice from their social workers 

regarding payment of travel warrants and agreement regarding the location of college being 

attended.  

Several young people advised they had enrolled themselves at colleges outside of Kent for fear 

of missing out on the academic year. Young people informed the service they were confused by 

the system and felt there was a lack of clarity and consistency with advice being offered i.e. 

being informed that travel to college would be funded and then that offer being withdrawn. 

This led to several young people using their weekly subsistence money to be able to continue 

at their college placements. 

Placement 

Placement issues are consistently raised by young people as something they require advocacy 

support to resolve. The service has supported young people to understand the availability of 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Referral Breakdown
of Service Users

Care Leavers Children in Care Child in Need Family Group Conference Child Protection

Page 21



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel | Appendix 1 
Young Lives Foundation | Advocacy Service 

 
 

4 
 

Making a Difference 

 

Children’s Services accommodation and assisted them in understanding their rights and 

entitlements whilst managing their expectations. However, support to move placement 

remains a top issue as does wishing to remain in placement.  

The Advocacy Service has received several referrals this year where young people have raised 

concerns about the standard of their accommodation, such as heating, bedding, cleanliness 

and the behaviour of other young people placed within the accommodation.  

Finance 

Young people have raised a variety of issues relating to finance that they have required support 

from the Advocacy Service to raise on their behalf. This included facing problems being able to 

receive their education bursaries which it had been advised could be used for travel to college. 

One barrier facing young people in receiving bursaries directly was the young people’s inability 

to open a bank account without formal ID.  

Issues have also been raised relating to difficulties accessing savings held by the local authority, 

requests for financial support to be able to access places of religious worship and not receiving 

regular subsistence money.  

Trends, Themes and Sharing of Information 

 

The trends and themes identified by the Advocacy Service are reported to Children’s Services at 

quarterly performance reviews and via on-going dialogue. Proactive communications on trends 

as they emerge with Children’s Services as a preventative approach can help inform practice and 

reduce the probability of other young people experiencing similar issues.  

 

Feedback gathered from young people is also shared with Children’s Services to help inform 

practice. The recent sharing of information and feedback between the Advocacy Service and 

Complaints Team has been particularly successful in identifying areas of improvement and led to  

a more successful approach in achieving early resolutions to complaints, and positive outcomes.  

 

 

OUTCOMES 

 

Independent advocacy can greatly improve a young person’s experience in care by supporting 

them to express their wishes and views to professionals and have them taken into consideration 

during decision making processes. When this happens effectively the Young Lives Foundation has 

observed that young people’s relationships with professionals can greatly improve, as can their 

positivity about their futures and willingness to engage in services, thus promoting positive 

futures.   
 

Page 22



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel | Appendix 1 
Young Lives Foundation | Advocacy Service 

 
 

5 
 

Making a Difference 

 

 

 

Feedback from Young People 

 

‘Thank you so much for your help, I’m happy where I am and things are going well’  

 

‘Although I haven’t got the decisions that I wanted I am glad that I went through the process 

and thank you for all your help and support’ 

 

‘I have found your service really helpful and accommodating throughout and I feel you went 

above and beyond to help, for that I am really grateful, I didn’t get the result I wanted from the 

complaint but having support made the whole thing less daunting and challenging’ 

 

‘Thank you so much, I really appreciate what you did’ 

 

‘Thank you so much for helping me and getting me to the Refugee Council, I’m going to keep 

your number in case I need help again, thank you so much’ 

 

‘Thank you for signposting me to the right place even though I know you couldn’t help me’ 

 

‘Sorry I forgot to call you and say to you everything was good after the complaint and I am 

getting on better with my social worker’ 

 

‘Thank you so much for your support I will call you in the future if I need help again’ 

 

‘My advocate was excellent to get hold of’ 

 

 
 

40%

26%

17%

17%

Outcome Of Closed Cases 

All Issues Resolved (40%)

All Possible Advocacy Provided (26%)

Unkown (Young Person Lost Contact /
Disengaged) (17%)

Young Person No Longer Required
Advocacy Support (17%)

Page 23



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel | Appendix 1 
Young Lives Foundation | Advocacy Service 

 
 

6 
 

Making a Difference 

 

CASE STUDIES  

 

Case Study 1 

 

A young person aged 14 was referred for advocacy support by another agency because the 

young person expressed that his wishes and feelings were not being heard, he refused to 

attend education in the area in which he was in a foster placement and wanted to move and 

live in London.  

 

During face to face discussion between the Advocate and young person, and with the use of an 

interpreter, the Advocate gained the young person’s wishes and feelings, which included how 

his experiences led to having nightmares, and frequent absconding from the placement; the 

young person wished for all professionals to have a meeting with him to discuss how he was 

feeling so that he felt that he was being heard.  

 

During the meeting, it was clear that the young person couldn’t at this time see the benefits to 

living in his present placement area, but professionals tried to reassure him that he was well 

looked after at his placement, and to give a little more time to settle in, and to engage with 

education first. 

 

The young person felt listened to, and agreed to try and give things more time; he engaged 

again with the Advocacy Service for his Child in Care meeting; and once again gave his views. At 

this stage the young person’s use of English language was much improved and he didn’t feel 

the need to use an interpreter; the young person said that he loved his school, and enjoyed it, 

and now had friends, and spoke positively about his placement, where he felt settled and 

happy.  He expressed that he understood the differences in the area he was living in, in 

comparison to London.  His nightmares had subsided, and life was looking more positive for 

him. 

 

This young person is so confident now, he will likely be presenting his views direct in the next 

CIC Meeting.  

 

Case Study 2 

A young person aged 13 was referred to the Advocacy Service by their Social Worker for advocacy 

support at a Child Protection Conference. At the point of referral the young person was under a 

Child Projection Plan under the category of neglect due to the physical abuse of their siblings 

taking place in the family home.  

Page 24



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel | Appendix 1 
Young Lives Foundation | Advocacy Service 

 
 

7 
 

Making a Difference 

 

Due to the nature of the advocacy issue and age of the young person, an Advocate was allocated 

to meet with the young person to provide face to face advocacy support. The young person told 

their Advocate that they wanted support at meetings so they knew what information was being 

discussed and the decisions that were being made.  

The young person initially lacked confidence to be able to speak openly and honestly to the Social 

Worker or Child Protection Chair. With the support of the Advocate the young person’s 

involvement during the conference increased to the point they became fully involved and were 

able to present and share their feelings about what was happening and what they would like to 

happen moving forward.  

During the process the allocated Social Worker kept in regular contact with the young person 

and Advocate enabling the relationship between the young person and Social Worker to 

strengthen and the young person to continue to feel empowered to speak for themselves.  

A Family Group Conference was held for the family, during which the young person was assisted 

by the Advocate in ensuring their input was heard which allowed the young person to be heard 

by their family and contribute to the Family Plan. The Conference was considered a success by 

Children’s Services and the family’s case was subsequently closed.  

The young person fed back to the Advocacy Service that they rated their satisfaction with the 

advocacy support provided as ten out of ten and their satisfaction with the outcome of the 

support as ten out of ten.   

 

Case Study 3 

A young person aged 10 was referred to the Advocacy Service by an Independent Fostering 

Agency. The referral information cited that the young person would struggle to communicate 

effectively over the telephone so an Advocate was allocated who met with the young person 

face to face to ascertain and confirm the issues they required support with. 

The young person had been moved from an Independent Fostering Agency placement to a 

Local Authority placement without an education placement having been planned or agreed in 

advance. This resulted in the young person being out of education for several months. The 

young person asked their Advocate to share their request to continue to stay at the new 

placement and also to be found an education placement as soon as possible.  

The Advocate communicated the issues raised on behalf of the young person with the allocated 

Independent Reviewing Officer and Social Worker. The young person did not feel satisfied with 

the response from Social Services which did not indicate expected timescales for a placement 

to be identified or further action taken to address the issue. 

Page 25



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel | Appendix 1 
Young Lives Foundation | Advocacy Service 

 
 

8 
 

Making a Difference 

 

The young person requested to make a complaint about their lack of education provision and 

requested support to address further issues relating to lack of contact with his family.  

Following support to raise their wishes and feelings via the complaints process and supporting 

the young person at their Looked after Child Review, all of the issues were successfully resolved 

within a timely manner.  

The young person went on to pass the Kent Test and attend Grammar School and was content 

with the planned contact arrangements with their family.  

 

 

Case Study 4  

 

A young person was referred to the Advocacy Service by his mentor requesting urgent help. 

The young person referred had sustained an injury the previous week which had become 

infected and was causing increasing pain. When contacted by the Advocacy Service with an 

interpreter the person explained that he developed a fever and his injury had swollen so he 

was unable to move properly. The young person had previously attempted to contact social 

services but nobody had been able to answer. The young person said he could not walk to 

hospital himself and had no money to be able to call a taxi.  

 

The Advocacy Service contacted the Children’s Services Duty Administrator immediately with 

the safeguarding concern to raise the issue and request support on his behalf.  

 

Following this communication Children’s Services called an ambulance for the young person 

and he was transported to hospital. The Advocacy Service provided a follow up call during 

which the young person advised that because of the language barrier he could not understand 

anyone at the hospital or what was happening. The Advocacy Service agreed to forward this 

information to his Social Worker.  

 

Several days later the young person contacted the Advocacy Service to say thank you for the 

support offered, he also confirmed that he was feeling better and was receiving ongoing 

medication.  

 
 
 

Page 26



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel Report | Appendix 2 
The Young Lives Foundation | Independent Visitor Service  

 
 

1 
 

Making a Difference 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 

The role of the Independent Visitor (Befriender) was first introduced as a statutory service for 
looked after children in The Children Act 1989 and revised in the Children and Young Person’s 
Act 2008.  The Children’s Act says a local authority has to appoint an Independent Visitor for 
any child they are looking after, if they feel it would be in the child’s best interests.  Section 
23ZB of the Children’s Act 1989 states ‘(1) A local authority looking after a child must appoint 
an independent person to be the child’s visitor if – (a) the child falls within a description 
prescribed in regulations made by the appropriate national authority; or (b) in any other case, 
it appears to them that it would be in the child’s interests to do so.  (2) A person appointed 
under this section must visit, befriend and advise the child’.  

Independent Visitor services should follow the Department for Education’s guidance found in 
Volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations which states: ‘the appointment 
should be considered as part of the development of the care plan for the child or as part of a 
review of the child’s case.  Any decision not to appoint an independent visitor should be kept 
under review to make sure that the opportunity to appoint such a person is considered if the 
child’s circumstances change.  The child’s wishes and feelings should be ascertained and the 
responsible authority may not appoint an independent visitor if the young person objects and 
the authority are satisfied that the child has sufficient understanding to make an informed 
decision. ‘ 

YLF’S INDEPENDENT VISITORS SERVICE  

YLF provides the Independent Visitor Service on behalf of Kent County Council under the 
Representation, Rights and Advocacy Contract.   YLF recruits, trains, supports and retains 
volunteers to act as Independent Visitors (IVs) and currently has over 70 accredited IVs in Kent.  

The role of the IV is to visit, advise and befriend young people, aged 8-18, in Kent’s care, taking 
a long term and independent interest in their welfare and development.   YLF are 
commissioned to evidence 60 arrangements a year. 

Using a Volunteer Recruitment Strategy, YLF ensures capacity is met by increasing the number 
of IVs in the appropriate districts. Volunteer recruitment is monitored to ensure diversity of 
volunteers in line with YLF’s Equal Opportunities Policy. YLF successfully recruits from a variety 
of local sources ensuring volunteers are diverse in age, gender, ethnicity, experience, location 
and those with disabilities, therefore meeting the needs of a wide range of young people.  

In 2016/17 IVs gave over 10,000 voluntary hours across Kent.  

Young people are crucial in the training and recruitment of staff and IVs, and are actively 
involved in IV induction training, selection and assessments. 

“Having the chance to talk with the young people on the training course was most helpful as 
it put all that we learnt into context and made it real. They were also the reminder of why I 
wanted to volunteer for YLF.” Trainee IV 

Page 27



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel Report | Appendix 2 
The Young Lives Foundation | Independent Visitor Service  

 
 

2 
 

Making a Difference 

 

IVs will also be offered on-going training and support groups in their district, providing an 
opportunity to meet with other IVs, staff/managers and guests from partner agencies. 

YLF asks all IVs to make a minimum commitment of two years to the young person they will be 
visiting. An important aspect of the role is to provide a long term relationship, something that 
young people in care can often miss out on when they only have contact with professionals.  
Currently over 50% of IV arrangements have been in place for over two years with 20% having 
lasted for four years or more offering added consistency and stability over and above expected 
requirements.  Quite often IVs are the only consistent adult in a young person’s life.  

“Adults come and go like buses, it’s not like that with my Independent Visitor, every time I 
need them I know they will be there to offer help and advice.” N, Aged 17 

The IV Service ensures young people’s welfare, development and wishes are paramount in all 
arrangements.  IVs will work with carers, social workers and practitioners to complement care 
plans whilst maintaining their independence. 

IVs are given a small budget to allow quality time with young people in community settings and 
offer informal support and activities.  They will visit the young person once or twice a month, 
depending on the care plan, and maintain contact as appropriate in-between visits. 

 Young people achieve outcomes in respect of: 

 learning new skills,  

 developing communication skills and learning to trust 

 building self-confidence and raising their self-esteem, 

 broadening  horizons,  

 encouraging existing hobbies/ trying new things, 

 offering informal education/training opportunities in social and life skills, i.e. budgeting, 
travel arrangements, homework and ASDAN qualifications, 

 experiencing consistency and continuity from an adult who is reliable, independent and 
there for them.   
 

“I’ve done so much with my IV over the years, things I wouldn’t have done before. She’s 
encouraged me to do well at school. Life seems bigger now.” C, Aged 16 

Arrangements conclude for varying reasons, regardless, an ending will always be managed to 
ensure the young person receives a positive ‘Good Goodbye’.  Quite often when a young person 
reaches 18 the IV relationship will continue voluntarily. 

‘Claire has been my Independent Visitor for three years now. We have had so much fun in those 
years and I’ve got so many good memories of my time I am never going to forget.’ S, Aged,17 

YLF continues to retain volunteers and many stay with the organisation to act as Independent 
Visitors for new referrals, once their existing arrangement is concluded.   
 

Page 28



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel Report | Appendix 2 
The Young Lives Foundation | Independent Visitor Service  

 
 

3 
 

Making a Difference 

 

“I would like to thank you, and all the staff at YLF, for giving me the opportunity to have K in 
my life. For myself the relationship has been enriching and joyous and seeing her develop and 
mature into a kind, considerate, intelligent adult makes me so proud of what she has 
overcome and achieved entirely all on her own merits.’ Mary | Volunteer Independent Visitor 

OUTPUTS 2016/17 

Number of arrangements 2016/17| 66 

Number of active referrals awaiting match|32 

YLF have met and surpassed the commissioning target of 60 matches each year.  66 young 
people have received the service in 2016/17.   

20 new young people received the service.  

OUTCOMES 

Case Study One 

S is an unaccompanied asylum-seeking young person that YLF’s accompanying adult service 
supported during his age assessment. S was very distressed during the age assessment process 
and YLF’s volunteer accompanying adult suggested to the social worker that he may benefit 
from a referral to the Independent Visitor service.  S had a YLF advocate who helped him in his 
new accommodation and applied for a hardship fund which was granted. The Independent 
Visitor service matched him with a Pashtu speaking volunteer.  The volunteer was keen to 
support S so travels more than an hour to see him. The joint working between YLF’s services 
and a successful funding bid enabled the Independent Visitor to obtain a bike, laptop and 
English CDs. The Independent Visitor has also encouraged S to join a local karate club which he 
loves and wants to continue next term.  He and his volunteer are continuing to explore the 
local area and learn about Kent’s heritage.  

Case Study Two 

T is 16 years old and under the disabilities team. T will be moving into supported living when 
she is 18 and it is recognised that she will need a lot of support with this. The Independent 
Visitor has been helping T prepare for this by accompanying her on public transport, looking at 
timetables and costs, and assisting her to develop independent skills. The foster carer reports 
that she is now more confident and will actually meet her Independent Visitor at the train 
station. They have had many adventures whilst travelling on public transport, including coping 
with rail replacement buses and not having enough cash for the bus! All good life experiences 
for T.            

Case Study Three  

G and Jane have been matched for the last three years. G has experienced some turbulent 
times recently which has involved him moving placements. Jane has been there for him during 
this time and has had several telephone calls from G when he has been in difficult situations. 
Most recently, G had an issue concerning a new relationship and he had been upset about a 

Page 29



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel Report | Appendix 2 
The Young Lives Foundation | Independent Visitor Service  

 
 

4 
 

Making a Difference 

 

decision the foster carers and social worker had made regarding an overnight stay. Jane was 
able to talk it through with G and returned him to the foster carers a lot calmer. G later phoned 
Jane to say that he had apologised to his foster carers and felt happier about decisions that had 
been made.  

Case Study Four  

A and Marion are a new arrangement. A is very keen on fishing and so their first visit was to the 
fishing lake. When they arrived A said to Marion that they couldn’t speak as it would scare the 
fish. This did not last long as A was soon chatting away. They were there for five hours and 
caught nothing, but had a fantastic time! Marion and his foster carer feel that fishing is some 
kind of safety net for A as this seemed to be all that he wanted to do. Marion is gradually 
helping A to experience new activities. They attended the Brighton trip arranged by YLF and 
have since experienced various activities. Marion reports that A is very quiet at first but once 
he gets to the activity he is fine and enjoys it.        

Case Study Five  

C had been having difficulties with school so her Independent Visitor Nicola made this a focus 
point on her next visit. C was able to talk about these difficulties and appreciated an alternative 
point of view. They discussed the situation and how she might be able to handle it better 
should the incident arise again. In this more relaxed situation C was able to see other people’s 
views. Nicola has also taken C horse riding which she really enjoyed. Her social worker has now 
confirmed that she has put regular riding lessons in place for her.  

FEEDBACK| YOUNG PEOPLE, CARERS, VOLUNTEERS 

Young People 

 ‘My Independent Visitor is there when I need to talk about my problems, they treat me fairly 

and like an individual. I can open up to them and they listen without judgement.’  

‘My Independent Visitor is fun to be with, we do lots of great things together and they are my 

best friend in the whole world.’    

‘Nicky always makes me smile and laugh. She is there to listen and give advice.’  
 
‘’My IV is like family and I’m so lucky she takes me out to so many places and gives up her time 
for me.’ 
 
‘Thanks for all he has done and helping to get where I am today.’ 
 
‘She is an amazing IV and also my close friend, we keep our memories in a scrap book.’ 
 
‘My IV never lets me down and takes an interest in me.’ 

‘My IV is always there for me I love having her as my special friend, we will be friends forever.’    

Page 30



Kent Corporate Parenting Panel Report | Appendix 2 
The Young Lives Foundation | Independent Visitor Service  

 
 

5 
 

Making a Difference 

 

‘They are fun and take me to lots of different places.’ 

Volunteers  

‘On our trip to London C announced that she was very happy that she was with me.’   

‘I will continue to support G when she turns 18, she will find this a difficult time.’  

 ‘I can see S growing in confidence and now able to say no to things and make decisions about where she 

would like to go.’  

‘I can’t believe that we have been matched for three years the time has just flown by.’  

‘Our first outing was a great success, R didn’t stop talking and we are already planning our next activity.’  

Foster Carers 

‘A always looks forward to his visits, I think he looks on Peter and Meryl as grandparents.’ 

 

EXCELLENCE IN VOLUNTEERING 

YLF successfully renewed the NCVO Mentoring and Befriending Approved Provider Standard 
Award.  This is awarded to YLF until 2020.  This is a fantastic achievement and one YLF is very 
proud of.  The award provides an external accreditation highlighting the excellent support YLF 
gives to its volunteers, young people and staff. 

“YLF is offering an excellent service which is constantly evolving to meet the changing 
needs to the young people it supports. Based on the evidence provided, interviews with staff, 
volunteers and service users, the assessor has no hesitation in recommending the IVs, schools 
and community mentoring schemes for re-accreditation.”  NCVO Assessor  
 
“YLF is able to offer several areas of added value to the mentoring and befriending it provides. It 
is an ASDAN accredited provider, meaning that young people can receive a qualification for 
accessing the mentoring and befriending services. For young people who have been out of 
education, this can be a particularly significant achievement. It also offers group activities; both 
of the service users interviewed had also participated in the group activities offered by YLF and 
had really valued these opportunities.” NCVO Assessor 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1 June 2017

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored in order to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for March 2017 is attached to this report

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed within Specialist Children’s 
Services to identify and monitor progress on a range of areas where 
improvements in performance and practice will lead to better outcomes for 
children and young people.

1.2 The latest Children in Care Scorecard for March 2017 is attached as Appendix 
1.

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care. 

2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 
and activity information. 

2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared so that performance issues can be further 

Page 33

Agenda Item 11



understood across organisations resulting in improved outcomes for children 
and young people.

3. Recommendations

3.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

4. Background documents

None

5. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 34

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 26 April 2017
SC SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Mar 2017

Page 35



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 26/04/2017 CIC Performance Report - March 2017 Page 2 of 9

Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set.

An amber rating indicates that the current performance is close to the target set.

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 
reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 
or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 
please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 
the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 
caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators. Also, if the denominator is 0 no RAG rating 
has been applied

Page 36

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 26/04/2017 CIC Performance Report - March 2017 Page 3 of 9

% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.2% G 1,785 1,817 98% 98.6% G 98.9% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 96.1% G 5,256 5,470 95% 96.4% G 98.1% G
% of CIC for 18mths and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 mths H SS 51.5% A 599 1,162 60% 50.2% A 55.5% A
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 12.6% A 239 1,893 10% 13.0% R 12.4% A
CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 69.0% A 380 551 70% 69.6% A 69.0% A
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 86.5% G 984 1,137 85% 86.7% G 86.5% G
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 81.3% G 1,103 1,356 80% 80.4% G 81.3% G

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 42.7 1,412    330,400 42.3 42.7
Number of Kent CIC SS 1,893 1,905 1,412
Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,319 1,315
% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 10.7% 98 912 10.4% 14.1%
% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.6% 50 1,893 2.9% 3.1%
% in P&V placements L SS 4.2% 79 1,893 4.3% 5.6%
% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 8.2% 155        1,893 8.4% 5.5%
% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 16.0% 303 1,893 16.5% 10.8%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 0 0 0
No. on a part-time timetable L SS 32 25 28
% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS 36.3% 517 1,424 36.0% 48.5%

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 85.8% A 496 578 90% 84.1% A 83.8% A
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 56.5% R 387 685 90% 53.8% R 65.5% R
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 87.4% A 1,245 1,424 90% 88.4% A 90.7% G
% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 85.6% A 1,219 1,424 90% 90.4% G 86.1% A

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 13.0 10,374 796 13.1 14.0

% of cases adoption agreed as plan within 4 mths, for those with an agency decision H R12M 69.4% A 75 108 75% 71.4% A - -
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 352.8 G 27,871 79 426.0 328.4 G - -
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 113.8 G 8,533 75 121.0 105.9 G - -
% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) H R12M 12.7% A 79 623 13.0% 14.1% G 12.7% A

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 81.5% 88 108 82.1% - -
% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 92.3% 12 13 93.3% - -
% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.1% 58 1,893 3.4% - -
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 4.1% 54 1,322 3.9% - -
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 8.5% 53 623 8.0% - -

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 76.5% R 772 1,009 90% 75.1% R - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 80 60 68
Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours H M 24 17 23

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 10 11

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 91.8% G 1,234 1,344 90% 92.3% G 90.9% G
Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 61.2% A 823 1,344 65% 61.8% A 48.6% R
% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 98.1% G 1,276 1,301 90% 94.3% G 98.3% G
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with H R12M 85.5% G 1,315 1,538 75% 86.3% G 89.1% G

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 79.9% A 96.6 120.9 83% 80.7% A - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.5 A 1,659 107.0 15.0 15.5 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 64.2 G 1,893 29.5 70.0 63.7 G 51.3 G

Scorecard Mar 2017

Indicator

Po
la

rit
y

Data 
Period

Latest Result and 
RAG Status

Num Denom
Target for 

16-17
Last month's result

and RAG Status
Excluding UASC

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Complaints

Page 37



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 26/04/2017 CIC Performance Report - March 2017 Page 4 of 9

Age Female Male Grand Total Disability Female Male Grand Total

0 27 26 53 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 15 43 58

1 22 24 46 Behaviour 7 34 41

2 17 14 31 Communication 6 16 22

3 7 20 27 Consciousness 1 2 3

4 9 21 30 Hand Function 1 1

5 9 17 26 Hearing 3 9 12

6 10 21 31 Incontinence 4 7 11

7 26 26 52 Learning 27 47 74

8 30 37 67 Mobility 12 11 23

9 39 38 77 Personal Care 1 3 4

10 34 54 88 Vision 5 9 14

11 43 46 89 Other DDA 8 13 21

12 43 72 115 None 587 1130 1717

13 50 67 117

14 51 83 134

15 64 143 207 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

16 73 200 273 Yes 19 462 481

17 90 340 430 No 625 787 1412

Grand Total 644 1249 1893 Grand Total 644 1249 1893

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 148 148 A1 - White British 551 674 1225

Albanian 26 26 A2 - White Irish 2 3 5

Bangladeshi 1 3 4 A3 - Any other White background 19 41 60

Belgian 1 1 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 2 1 3

British 600 743 1343 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 4 12 16

Congolese 1 1 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 9 22 31

Czech 1 1 B2 - White and Black African 5 12 17

Egyptian 17 17 B3 - White and Asian 5 5 10

Eritrean 9 138 147 B4 - Any other mixed background 19 10 29

Ethiopian 1 11 12 C1 - Indian 5 5

Ghana 1 1 C2 - Pakistani 1 1 2

Guinean 1 1 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 1 2

Indian 2 2 C4 - Any other Asian background 3 36 39

Iranian 29 29 D1 - Caribbean 1 2 3

Iraqi 22 22 D2 - African 16 176 192

Irish 2 4 6 D3 - Any other Black background 1 1

Italian 1 1 E1 - Chinese 1 1

Ivorian 1 1 E2 - Any other ethnic group 5 247 252

Jamaican 1 1 Grand Total 644 1249 1893

Kuwaiti 3 3

Latvian 4 1 5

Lithuanian 2 2

Moroccan 1 1

Nepalese 2 2

Nigerian 3 3

Not Recorded 5 9 14

Pakistani 1 1 2

Palestinian 1 1

Polish 2 2

Portugese 1 1

Slovak 4 8 12

Slovenian 3 7 10

Sri Lankan 1 1 2

Sudanese 18 18

Syrian 1 22 23

Turkish 1 1

Vietnamese 7 20 27

Grand Total 644 1249 1893

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 31/03/2017

Page 38



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 26/04/2017 CIC Performance Report - March 2017 Page 5 of 9

Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.
** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

Mar
12

Jun
12

Sep
12

Dec
12

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Mar
12

Jun
12

Sep
12

Dec
12

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years* 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Mar
12

Jun
12

Sep
12

Dec
12

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

LAC over the last 5 years UASC
Citizen

920

940

960

980

1,000

1,020

1,040

1,060

1,080

1,100

1,120

Mar
12

Jun
12

Sep
12

Dec
12

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Apr
14

Jun
14

Aug
14

Oct
14

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway) 
over the last 3 years 

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Apr
14

Jun
14

Aug
14

Oct
14

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

Apr
15

May
15

Jun
15

Jul
15

Aug
15

Sep
15

Oct
15

Nov
15

Dec
15

Jan
16

Feb
16

Mar
16

Apr
16

May
16

Jun
16

Jul
16

Aug
16

Sep
16

Oct
16

Nov
16

Dec
16

Jan
17

Feb
17

Mar
17

Care Leavers** UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Apr
14

Jun
14

Aug
14

Oct
14

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway) 
over the last 3 years 

UASC

Citizen

Page 39



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 26/04/2017 CIC Performance Report - March 2017 Page 6 of 9

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15* 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Kent 16.3% 15.2% 14.1% 13.6% 11.9% Kent 7.7% 7.7% 4.2% 6.5% 6.4%

Target 11.8% 11.3% 9.8% 9.8% 9.8% Target 7.3% 6.0% 5.0% 4.7% 4.7%

Stat Neighbour 11.8% 11.8% 10.0% - - Stat Neighbour 6.6% 5.5% 5.2% 5.0% -

National Ave 11.8% 11.3% 9.8% 9.8% - National Ave 7.3% 6.0% 5.0% 4.7% 4.7%

* This figure is not validated

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Kent 46.0% 54.0% 61.0% 65.0% 74.0% Kent 46.0% 46.0% 44.0% 46.0% 59.0%

Target 58.0% 64.0% 63.0% 68.0% 68.0% Target 50.0% 54.0% 51.0% 55.0% 59.0%

Stat Neighbour 55.3% 63.1% 58.7% 62.9% - Stat Neighbour 50.6% 46.3% 50.3% 49.2% 54.4%

National Ave 58.0% 64.0% 63.0% 68.0% 71.0% National Ave 50.0% 54.0% 51.0% 55.0% 59.0%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Kent 48.0% 42.0% 52.0% 57.0% 67.0% Kent 15.3% 14.8% 13.0% 9.4% 10.3%

Target 52.0% 56.0% 59.0% 61.0% 61.0% Target 12.4% 13.6% 14.9% 15.5% 14.4%

Stat Neighbour 46.9% 55.3% 54.9% 54.6% - Stat Neighbour 15.1% 13.6% 16.1% 16.2% -

National Ave 52.0% 56.0% 59.0% 61.0% 64.0% National Ave 13.6% 14.9% 15.5% 12.2% 13.8%

Education Data Trend Graphs

7.7% 7.7% 

4.2% 

6.5% 6.4% 

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

% of children looked after who are classed as persistent absentees 

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone
Kent Stat Neighbour Ave 5.0% Latest National Ave 4.7%

16.3% 
15.2% 

14.1% 
13.6% 

11.9% 

7%

9%

11%

13%

15%

17%

19%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15*

% of Children who have been continuously looked after for twelve months 
with at least one fixed term exclusion from school 

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone
Kent Stat Neighbour Ave 10.0% Latest National Ave 9.8%

46.0% 

54.0% 

61.0% 
65.0% 

74.0% 

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Reading at Key Stage 2 

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone
Kent Stat Neighbour - 62.9% Latest National Ave - 71.0%

46.0% 46.0% 44.0% 46.0% 

59.0% 

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Writing at Key Stage 2 

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone
Kent Stat Neighbour Ave - 54.4% Latest National Ave - 59.0%

48.0% 

42.0% 

52.0% 

57.0% 

67.0% 

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Maths at Key Stage 2 

Series1 Series2 Series3 Kent Stat Neighbour - 54.6% Latest National - 64.0%

15.3% 14.8% 

13.0% 

9.4% 
10.3% 

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

% CIC achieving 5+ A* to C at GCSE (inc. English & Maths) 

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone
Kent Stat Neighbour Ave - 16.2% Latest National Ave - 15.9%

Page 40



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 26/04/2017 CIC Performance Report - March 2017 Page 7 of 9

Data source: VSK.  Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors February 2017

Cohort 25 Cohort 32

Key:
CSE   Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persistent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 31/03/2017

Multiple Attendance Factors March 2017

LAC on RTT with Multiple Factors February 2017 LAC on RTT with Multiple Factors March 2017

Page 41



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 26/04/2017 CIC Performance Report - March 2017 Page 8 of 9

Definition

Apr 16 May 16 Jun 16 Jul 16 Aug 16 Sep 16 Oct 16 Nov 16 Dec 16 Jan 17 Feb 17 Mar 17 Ave

+15.0% +16.9% +17.9% +17.9% +15.3% +14.1% +15.3% +10.7% +11.9% +11.2% +9.6% +9.0% +13.7%

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

This is an improving indicator.  There are robust partnerships in place between Health and SCS to deliver and ensure 
there is ongoing scrutiny of the timeliness and capacity for initial health assessments.  This partnership is delivering 
improvements to the completion of the health assessments.  Both agencies are aware this focus and scrutiny needs 
to continue so this indicator moves to a 90% completion rate.

PID Reference
Current RAG Red - 56.5%

Of the Children in Care who became looked after and therefore whose Initial Health Assessment was 
due in the period, the percentage of those whose Initial Health Assessment took place within 20 
working days of the date they became looked after.

Commentary

Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment took place more than 20 working days after their period of care started 
by age and legal status

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

5 3 

77 

138 

42 
11 

19 

3 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

141 

55 
84 107 

47 

14 

96 

141 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Page 42



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 26/04/2017 CIC Performance Report - March 2017 Page 9 of 9

Definition

Last 12 months

Commentary

This indicator shows the percentage of CIC Missing Children Returner Interviews that were 
completed within 3 working days of the missing episode ending.

PID Reference
Current RAG Red - 76.5%

Returner Interviews Completed Outside of Timescale by How Far Out of Timescale the Interview Was

The number of Returner interviews out of timescale by one day is significant combined with the high number of 
forms not completed or where no date has been added. This suggests that the target can be achieved through 
awareness raising and more robust management oversight.

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC

Theme Missing Children

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent

44 

13 
5 3 

13 
6 

34 

9 6 6 3 2 

58 

35 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

1 day 2 days 3 days 4 days 5 days 6 days 1-2 weeks 2-3 weeks 3-4 weeks 1-2
months

2-3
months

>3 months Not Date
In Form

No
Complete

Form
Recorded

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1 June 2017

Subject: STATEMENT OF PURPOSE – FOSTERING SERVICE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Division: All

Summary: Kent Fostering have updated the Statement of Purpose for the fostering 
service to reflect the current business plan and comply with the National Minimum 
Standards (2011) (Standard 16) and Fostering Regulations (2011). 

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE and 
COMMENT on the updated Statement of Purpose for the Kent Fostering Service. 

1. Introduction

1.1 The Fostering Regulations (2011) Part 2 set out the Local Authority’s duty in 
providing a statement of purpose: 

 The fostering service provider must compile a written statement in 
relation to the fostering service (“the statement of purpose”) which 
consists of:-

oa statement of the aims and objectives of the fostering service, and
ostatement as to the services and facilities (including any parent and 

child arrangements) provided by the fostering service.

 The fostering service provider must provide a copy of the statement of 
purpose to the Chief Inspector, place a copy on their website (if they 
have one), and make copies available, upon request, to:

oany person working for the purposes of the fostering service,
oany foster parent or prospective foster parent of the fostering service,
oany child placed with a foster parent by the fostering service, and
o the parent of any such child.

1.2 The National Minimum Standards (2011) require the fostering service to have a 
clear statement of purpose setting out the aims and objectives of the services 
and facilities it provides. 

1.3 The Statement of Purpose must be available and understood by foster carers 
and staff and is reflected in any policy, procedures and guidance (Standard 
16.1).

Page 45

Agenda Item 12



1.4 The aims and objectives of the Statement of Purpose are child focused and 
show how the service will meet outcomes for children (Standard 16.2).

1.5 The Statement of Purpose includes our pledge to children and young people, 
who are provided with Childrens Guide at the point of placement (Standard 
16.3).

2. Body of the report

2.1 The Statement of Purpose was last updated in 2014.  There have been 
significant changes in the past two years in the vision and direction for the Kent 
Fostering service.  It is important that all Kent Fostering documents reflect the 
current updated branding and vision for the service.

2.2 The updated Statement of Purpose reflects the significant progress of the 
fostering service and was identified as an action from the fostering business 
plan.  The updated Statement of Purpose has been written by the Head of the 
Fostering Service, supported by the Practice Development Officer for fostering. 

2.3 The Statement of Purpose will be updated on Tri x (the central electronic 
system for all KCC policies and procedures) to be accessible to all staff, local 
authorities, foster carers, children and their families. 

3. Conclusions

3.1 The Statement of Purpose covers the aims and objectives of the Kent Fostering 
service and our pledge to children. It covers the scope of the recruitment of 
foster carers, through to assessment, approval at panel and the commitment to 
ongoing support and training. Included are the recent updates to the structure of 
the service including the Fostering Review Team.

4 Recommendation: 

4.1 Recommendation:  The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE and 
COMMENT on the updated Statement of Purpose for the Kent Fostering Service. 

5. Background Documents

5.1 The previous fostering Statement of Purpose (2014) can be accessed on Tri x 
at:http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/pdfs/fost_state_policy.pdf?zoom_h
ighlight=fostering+statement+of+purpose#search="fostering statement of 
purpose"  

6. Contact details

Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla
Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 422241
Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk

Page 46

http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/pdfs/fost_state_policy.pdf?zoom_highlight=fostering+statement+of+purpose#search=%22fostering%20statement%20of%20purpose%22
http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/pdfs/fost_state_policy.pdf?zoom_highlight=fostering+statement+of+purpose#search=%22fostering%20statement%20of%20purpose%22
http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/pdfs/fost_state_policy.pdf?zoom_highlight=fostering+statement+of+purpose#search=%22fostering%20statement%20of%20purpose%22
http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/pdfs/fost_state_policy.pdf?zoom_highlight=fostering+statement+of+purpose#search=%22fostering%20statement%20of%20purpose%22
mailto:Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk


Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 47

mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



V1 06.12.16

SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Kent Fostering Service Statement of Purpose 
& Policy

03000 420 002
www.kentfostering.co.uk

Page 49



V1 06.12.16

CONTENTS

1. Introduction Page 3

2. Recruitment, Assessment and Management of Foster Carers Page 7

3. Referral, Placement and Support of Looked after Children Page 20

     Appendix 1 – Centralised Fostering Service structure chart Page 29

     Appendix 2 – Fostering Support Team structure charts Page 30

Page 50



V1 06.12.16

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK

Introduction

This Statement of Purpose sets out the framework for Kent’s Fostering Service.  Kent’s 
Fostering Service is run in accordance with the principles outlined in the Children Act 1989 
Guidance and Regulations Volume 4: Fostering Services and the Fostering National Minimum 
Standards (2011).  As a local authority provision, the Fostering Service adheres to Kent 
County Council’s policies and procedures for Specialist Children’s Services.  These give written 
guidance to staff to enable an efficient and effective service to be delivered.  The Kent 
Fostering Service is committed to establishing and maintaining standards, and ensuring 
quality outcomes for vulnerable Children and Young People

Legislative and policy framework 

Kent’s Fostering Service is run in accordance with the principles outlined in the:

 Children Act 1989 
 Fostering: National Minimum Standards (2011) 
 The Care Planning and Fostering regulations 2015
 The Care Standards Act 2015
 The Fostering Service (England) Regulations 2011 & Amendments July 2013.
 The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 4: Fostering Services (2011)
 The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations, Volume 2; Care Planning, Placement 

and Case Review 2010
 Family & Friends Guidance (2010)
 Transition to Adulthood Guidance (2010) including Staying Put
 Independent Review of Determinations (Adoption & Fostering) regulations 2009
 Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 

Procedures  

The following procedures inform the delivery of fostering services by Kent County Council

 Culturally Competent Care Policy, Procedure and Guidance
 Contact Policy and Procedures
 Kent & Medway Safeguarding Children Procedures
 Guidelines for Social Workers on Foster Carers Wishing To Adopt
 Permanent Fostering Procedures 
 Staying Put Policy (2016)
 Permanency Policy, Guidance & Prompts (2016)
 Family and Friend Care Kinship Policy Procedures and Guidance
 Special Guardianship/Policy Procedures and Guidance
 Allegations and complaints against Foster Carers 
 Statutory Guidance on Promoting the Health of Looked After Children (2015)

Page 51



V1 06.12.16

Kent County Council (KCC) Policy Statement

KCC recognises that a child’s needs are best met by a nurturing family and is committed to 
placing children who are not able to remain within their own family in an appropriate 
alternative family placement wherever possible. 

KCC is committed to placing children and young people with KCC approved foster families and 
has developed and invested in a dedicated and comprehensive Fostering Service that actively 
works to meet the quality standards required and the diverse needs of the children who 
become looked after by KCC and their families. 

KCC is also committed to placing children and young people with local foster families in order 
to allow them to maintain contact with families and friends continue at the same school and 
thrive within their own community. Wherever possible children will be placed within 10 miles 
of their local community (other than where there is a risk that means they need to be placed 
outside of their community) 

Each child/young person will have access to foster care services which recognise and address 
their needs in terms of gender, religion, ethnic origin, language, culture, disability and 
sexuality.  Placement decisions will consider the child’s assessed racial, ethnic, religious, 
cultural and linguistic needs and match these as closely as possible with the ethnic origin, 
race, religion, culture and language of the foster family (Culturally Competent Care Policy)

Aims and Objectives

The main aim of Kent’s Fostering Service is to provide stable and high quality foster care 
placements for children of all ages that value, support and encourage them to grow and 
develop as individuals.

In addition to promoting their health and general well-being the service is also committed to 
ensuring that every foster carer recognises the importance of the educational achievement of 
Children in Care and work with KCC in raising their academic attainment.  The Service also 
recognises that a small number of children may not achieve formal academic qualifications but 
will encourage foster carers to help children and young people to reach their maximum 
educational ability.

Structure of Kent Fostering. (Detailed structure charts in Appendices)

The Registered Manager and Head of Service for Kent Fostering is Caroline Smith.  The 
centralised part of the Service is directly line managed by the Head of Fostering which 
includes recruitment and assessment, decision making on all new approvals including 
Connected Persons, administration of six fostering panels, Specialist Fostering Service 
including Disability Fostering and the Fostering Review Team.  Training and Development for 
foster carers and Initial Enquiries are also managed directly by the Head of Fostering. 

The county has seven area Fostering Support Teams, directly line managed by Service 
Managers within the areas, alongside the Child in Care teams.  This structure is to promote 
joint working and support to foster carers, children and young people.  The Fostering Support 
Teams supervise foster carers, match all referrals for children placements with appropriately 
skilled carers, promote training for carers and facilitate support groups.  They are also 
responsible for the completion of placement plan arrangements and ensuring safe care plans 
and delegated authority are completed. 

Page 52



V1 06.12.16

Kent Pledge 

The fostering service supports the Kent Pledge to Children in Care. 

Our Pledge

We understand that being in care and leaving care is not always easy and that it can bring 
extra challenges and pressures for you. If we are going to get it right for you we need to 
make a real difference to help you do your best and have success in your life. Our pledge 
includes a number of things we will do that will help make sure that your time in care is a 
positive experience. These are based around six themes:

 A sense of belonging

 An adult who is always there for you while you are in care

 A good education.

 Good memories for the future

 Getting ready for being an adult.

 Championing your needs and interests

Services provided by Kent County Council

KCC Fostering Service has a range of fostering services for children who need them these 
include: 

 Individual and sibling group placements
 Bridging placements
 Emergency placements 
 Task Centred placements
 Permanent and long term fostering
 Parent and child placements
 Respite placements
 Specialist Short breaks Scheme for disabled children
 Disabled Children’s foster placements
 Connected persons foster placements

The Aims of the Fostering Service

The aims of the Fostering Service are to ensure:

 The child’s welfare, safety and needs are at the centre of foster care provision.

 Promotion of a stable and safe environment ensuring that children and young people are 
protected from abuse and neglect.

 Children are entitled to grow up in a loving environment that can meet their 
developmental needs.

Page 53



V1 06.12.16

 Promotion of educational attainment, progress and school attendance of all children and 
young people in foster care placements.

 Children will be supported to develop their emotional, intellectual, social, creative and 
physical skills through the accessible and stimulating environment created within the 
foster home.

 The promotion of the health, personal care and developmental needs of all the children 
and young people in foster care placements.

 Positive regard for the child’s racial, religious and cultural needs.  Children should have 
equal access to local family based care regardless of race, religion, ability or disability.

 Children’s views, wishes and feelings are acted upon, unless this is contrary to their 
interests or adversely affects other members of the foster care household.

 Anti-discriminatory practices that promote equal opportunities for all and value diversity of 
both foster children and carers regardless of, gender, sexual orientation, ethnic 
background, age, religious beliefs, disability or marital status.

 The particular needs of disabled children and children with complex needs will be fully 
recognised and taken into account.

 The significance of contact for children in care, and of maintaining relationships with birth 
parents and the wider family, including siblings, half-siblings and grandparents, is 
recognised, as is the foster carer’s role in this.

 Acknowledgment and recognition of the contribution that can be made by family and 
friends as carers.

 Foster carers have a right to full information about the child

 Partnership between all those involved in fostering children is essential for the National 
Minimum Standards to deliver the best outcomes for children; this includes other statutory 
agencies, fostering service providers and foster carers and forms part of Kent County 
Councils Foster Carer Charter.

Page 54



V1 06.12.16

SECTION 2

RECRUITMENT, ASSESSMENT AND MANAGEMENT OF FOSTER 
CARERS

Recruitment

Initial Enquiries Team

Dedicated administrative staff will offer a gateway into the service and provide the following 
functions:

 Co-ordinate advertising
 Dedicated telephone line/answer phone so all enquires routed to them
 Provide consistent responses to enquiries
 Initial screening to see whether those enquiring meet minimum criteria for acceptance for 

assessment
 Collate and send out packs and application forms
 Receive and acknowledge applications
 Input details of enquiry/application into database
 Track application during assessment process and provide ongoing link/liaison
 Collection of data in relation to applications and timescales

Timescales
 Initial enquiries will be responded to within one working day
 Packs will be sent out within one working day
 Follow up call within five working days
 Initial home visit offered within ten working days
 From application to Panel should meet the National Minimum Standards of eight months.  

The Service aims to complete within six months.

Advertising 
Dedicated staff will use a range of media via the Communications team (newspapers, radio, 
posters , social media and website) and include:

 Campaigns 
 “Drip drip” advertising
 Editorials (particularly in relation to campaigns)
 Website 
 Posters
 Leave behind cards
 Leafleting
 Community presence including use of banners and roundabout advertising

Adverts will be general (setting out the range of care needs) and specific for districts or 
particular types of carers.
Leaflet drops will take place in the Districts where recruitment of carers is needed to meet the 
needs of the Children in Care population

Page 55



V1 06.12.16

Advertising will target those most likely to be interested in caring.  Information will be made 
available through Education services including schools, health providers and Local Authority 
information and locations.

KCC strives to place children with carers from similar backgrounds, and there is a particular 
shortage of carers from black and minority ethnic families, these applications will be 
particularly encouraged, by specific advertising and promotion of fostering.

The fostering recruitment strategy will outline the requirements for the service.

Bounty Scheme 
Kent has a continuing need to increase and replenish its bank of foster carers and, since it is 
recognised that the best way of finding new foster carers is through existing carers – often 
relatives or friends – a bounty payment will be made to any existing carer who is fostering for 
KCC who successfully introduce new carers to the Service.  The bounty will be paid when the 
new carer is approved.

Information 
General information about the Service is available on the website and also is provided over 
the telephone.  The information pack, brochure and an application form will be sent out to the 
prospective carers via email or post.

Information Open Events 
Prospective carers can attend the monthly information events (which are published on the 
website) to hear about the service from existing carers and Fostering staff. It is also an 
opportunity to ask questions.

Tracking
The Recruitment Co-ordinator will track all enquiries and applications

Determining suitability of applicants
Recruitment is undertaken according to the statutory requirement that the welfare of the child 
is the primary consideration.

Applications are welcomed from couples in stable and enduring relationships and single 
adults.

The following conditions must be met when applying for general approval as a foster carer:

Statutory Checks
All adult applicants and their household will be required to undertake checks which include:

 DBS Check (Disclosure and Barring Service) 
 Systems check for KCC to ensure children are not known to child protection
 Health
 Schools if you have children of school age
 Previous partners
 References (personal and employment)
 Financial
 Social media check

Page 56



V1 06.12.16

Stability 
Applications from couples are unlikely to be accepted where the duration of their relationship 
has been for less than 2 years.

Age 
Whilst there is no upper or lower age range applicants will need to show that they have a 
broad experience of life in order to meet the demands of this challenging role.  Applicants will 
also need to show that they are fit and healthy enough with high energy levels to care for the 
young people who are fostered. 

Accommodation 
The assessment of the accommodation will take into account the safety of the child and 
whether there is sufficient space for all the family.  It is expected that all foster children will 
have their own bedroom unless the child chooses to share with a sibling of a similar age and 
gender or is very young these arrangements will be based on a risk assessment. It is 
expected that a carer will have security of tenure.

Contact 
Applicants must have a personal telephone number and email address. They must have the 
use of a home computer, to access on line information such as the Foster Carers Handbook 
and to support children with homework. 

Pets 
Applicants must not usually have more than 2 household dogs or keep dangerous pets.
A risk assessment of all animals will be undertaken and for any household where there are 
more than 2 dogs agreement must be obtained by the Service Manager.

Weapons 
Applicants must keep any dangerous weapons secure and in compliance with the relevant 
regulations.

Financial security 
Applications from people on all levels of income including State Benefit are welcome.  
Applicants must understand that registration as a foster carer is not a form of employment 
and therefore there are no guarantees with regard to income.  Foster carers are self-
employed and not paid when they do not have a child in a placement. 

Working carers 
It is the usual requirement that one carer will not be employed outside of the home and that 
a carer will be available before and after school, (including facilitating the school run), if a 
child is ill or excluded from school and to attend planning and other meetings relating to a 
child/ren.   Carers will also need to be available to attend training and support groups.  
Applicants may be able to undertake some part time work alongside the fostering role 
particularly if they are caring for older children.  Consideration will need to be given to other 
caring commitments and how these can be balanced with the fostering role.  

Page 57



V1 06.12.16

Applicants' children 
Applicants will want to ensure that becoming a foster carer will not negatively affect the 
welfare of any other children living with them.  KCC is committed to considering and 
supporting the welfare of applicants' children in relation to the fostering placements that are 
made.  Foster carers birth children will be supported and seen regularly by the fostering social 
worker and at annual reviews. 

Health
A Medical will be undertaken for all applicants.
Health factors that may impact on applicants' capacity to care for children will be considered 
when assessing applicants.  These issues are important with regard to how they may impact 
on the applicant’s capacity to care for child/ren. All medicals will be reviewed by the agency 
medical advisor.  

Smoking 
Due to the known health risks associated with secondary smoking KCC’s aim is to provide a 
smoke free care environment for Children in Care.  Existing carers are therefore pro-actively 
encouraged to stop smoking.  Applications will not be accepted from people who smoke, or 
have smoked in the past 6 months, for children under the age of 5 or disabled children.  E 
cigarettes will be classed as the same as smoking.  Placements will not be made in smoking 
households of children who are suffering from asthma or other respiratory problems, heart 
conditions or glue ear.  

In addition, successful applicants would be expected to have a smoking policy that precludes 
smoking indoors, and that promotes a healthy understanding of the risks to health of both 
passive and active smoking. 

Applicants will also be required to demonstrate how they will encourage young people not to 
smoke when they, themselves, are smokers or use E-Cigarettes.  Foster Carers should not 
encourage children/young people to smoke or purchase tobacco under the legal age limit.  
Where Carers are aware that young people in their care may be drinking and or smoking, they 
should advise the child’s social worker.

Drugs
Where Carers are prescribed drugs for purposes of treatment, they must ensure that they are 
properly secured in a locked medicine cabinet and present no risk to fostered children/young 
people.  If the drugs need to be kept in the fridge, a lockable cash box is a useful way of 
keeping them secure.

The illegal use of drugs by Foster Carers whilst they are responsible for the care of 
children/young people is expected to result in de-registration.  Such matters will be referred 
to the relevant Service Manager and Fostering Panel.

Foster Carers must not collude in any way with the taking of drugs by young people in their 
care.  Carers must advise a young person’s social worker of any concerns they have regarding 
their use of drugs.

Alcohol
Foster Carers must ensure that if they are drinking alcohol, this does not result in the inability 
to be responsible for children in their care.

Page 58



V1 06.12.16

Foster Carers should be aware that many children/young people will associate alcohol with 
inappropriate care as a result of their personal experiences, and therefore may be fearful 
when they see Carers drinking.

Foster Carers should not encourage children/young people to drink or purchase alcohol under 
the legal age limit.  Where Carers are aware that young people in their care may be drinking 
alcohol, they should advise the child’s social worker.

Foster Carers must be aware that whilst they are responsible for the care of other people’s 
children, they must take account of their own alcohol consumption 

Transport 
Providing transport for Children in Care is an integral aspect of the role of foster carers.  If 
approved, applicants will be required to transport children to school, medical appointments, 
contact and other meetings as required.  They will need to have access to a car that is 
properly taxed, insured, maintained and equipped at all times.  Where a carer does not drive 
they will need to evidence that they can transport children as required. 

Applications will not be accepted from people who

 Are in a household with a transient resident population – i.e. guest house or one taking 
students

 Wish to continue to work as child minders
 Wish to continue to be approved to foster for another local authority or independent 

agency
 Wish to continue to privately foster children 

Relative & friend/Connected Persons applicants 
Relative/friend carers will be required to meet the same rigorous standards as mainstream 
applicants although there is some discretion within the assessment for these carers where it is 
in the interest of the child for whom they wish to care. 

Relatives and friends will be treated with respect, and an acknowledgement of the difficulties 
the family situation which has led to the child becoming looked after.  In some cases the 
child’s social worker will complete a short viability assessment of the prospective carers to 
ensure that there is a degree of confidence in the arrangement that is being offered.  A full 
fostering assessment will be completed jointly by a fostering social worker and the child’s 
social worker prior to the child being placed.  In an emergency, where it is necessary for the 
child to be placed first, then a temporary assessment, will be undertaken and temporary 
approval must be agreed by the Nominated Officer (Area Assistant Director).  Full approval 
must be given by the fostering panel and decision maker no more than 16 weeks after the 
child is placed (unless there are exceptional circumstances when an 8 week extension can be 
made), if the carers are not approved in this time then the child must be removed from their 
care.

Relatives and friends carers may undertake the training that is offered to all foster carers. 
This includes the Skills to Foster training along with the initial and core training.
Where this is completed the full fostering payment (i.e. maintenance and fee) will be made.  
If training is not undertaken then the maintenance payment in accordance with the age of the 
child will be made.

Page 59



V1 06.12.16

Recruitment of Connected Person carers outside Kent 
The Fostering Service will undertake to recruit, assess and supervise foster carers from other 
parts of the country where it is clearly in the child's interest to be placed with relatives or 
friends and away from their home community.

Social Services Employees who Foster

 When considering an application to foster, the worker needs to consider the 
Corporate Conflict of Interest Policy and discuss it with their line manager.

 It would not normally be considered appropriate for a Children and Families Social 
Workers to be assessed as a foster carer for the geographical area in which they live. 
Fostering Social Workers will  not normally be assessed as a foster carer for the  
authority in which they are employed

 During the assessment process, the assessing Social Worker should pay particular 
attention to any conflict of interest between work and fostering. He/she should seek 
the views of the applicant’s line manager to ensure that areas of potential conflict 
have been fully discussed. Areas could include access to information, demands of 
their job, or conflict for the person as either a worker or Foster Carer if allegations 
are made against them.

 The type of child, age and number of children are always looked at during 
assessments, but special attention needs to be given to this to ensure that work and 
fostering are compatible

Assessment and preparation of prospective foster carers
The process of approving a foster carer should usually take no more than 8 months as per the 
NMS.  It is the Service target to aim to reduce this to six months where ever possible. The 
process is divided into 2 stages as per the Fostering Services Regulation 2013. 
The recruitment and assessment of all new carers is undertaken by the Centralised Fostering 
Service.

Initial visit 
When the Initial Enquiry team accepts an application a fostering social worker will undertake 
an initial home visit within 10 working days.  This visit will take place at the home of the 
prospective applicant. 

The assessment process and the criteria for approval will be clearly explained to applicants at 
the initial visit.

Stage 1 of the Assessment

DBS check
These will be instigated following the initial visit.  Formal checks in the form of Enhanced 
Disclosures from the Disclosure and Barring Service must be undertaken for all applicants and 
members of their household aged 18 and over.

Previous offending behaviour will be scrutinised and applications are unlikely to be progressed 
if any member of the household has been cautioned for, or convicted of:
 Offences against children 
 Driving disqualification within the last 5 years
 Any offence involving harm to another in the last 10 years

Page 60



V1 06.12.16

Other checks 
Checks will also be undertaken within KCC’s own information systems (including the LADO) 
and those of other local authorities where the prospective carer has lived in the previous 10 
years.  If any applicant's own children or any other child they have cared for have ever been 
subject to a Child Protection Plan, legal proceedings or compulsorily removed from their care 
this will preclude the application from proceeding.

All applicants will be required to provide the following information:

 Proof of identity including a recent photograph e.g. driving licence, passport or birth 
certificate;

 A full employment history, together with a satisfactory written explanation of any gaps in 
employment;

 Where a person has previously worked in a position whose duties involved work with 
children, so far as reasonably practicable, verification of the reason why the position 
ended; a formal reference will also be taken;

 A letter from  landlord confirming; a) that the applicant has sought and gained permission 
to undertake placements, where permission is required by the terms of any  lease or 
tenancy agreement and b) that the applicant is not in arrears with their rent payments 
and that they are not in breach of the terms of their lease or tenancy;

 For applicants who own their property a mortgage statement confirming regular payments 
and that there are no arrears will need to be provided;

 Documentary evidence of any relevant qualification;
 A social media check will be undertaken to include Facebook and other social media sites.

References 
In addition to the statutory references a minimum of six personal references will be taken up 
for fostering applications. References from ex partners and children from previous 
relationships will also be sought.  A minimum of three of the personal referees will be 
interviewed by the Fostering Social Worker.  If there are adult children of the family they will 
receive a written reference request, followed up by an interview during the assessment 
process.  Previous partners will also be interviewed as part of the assessment process.

Assessment process 
All eligible applicants will be assessed to determine whether they are suitable to become a 
Kent foster carer.  Each application will be considered on its merits with the welfare of 
children being paramount.  

A written agreement will be undertaken outlining how the assessment process will progress 
including meeting dates. On those rare occasions when a satisfactory relationship cannot be 
established this should be brought to the attention of Fostering Assessment Team Manager.

Interviews will normally be carried out in the applicant’s home, following a standard 
assessment format, to determine their suitability to offer care.  The assessment process 
should be completed within 8 months from application, however the service aims to complete 
within 6 months.

Kent Fostering Service will need to satisfy itself that applicants have good mental and physical 
health and vigour.  Factors to be taken into account include:

 Motivation
 Mental, physical and emotional well being

Page 61



V1 06.12.16

 Life style
 Understanding of the fostering task
 Understanding of the needs of looked after children.
 Ability to manage and care for a child who may have emotional, health, 

developmental, behavioural and or educational needs.
 Ability to work with child’s birth family.
 Ability to meet the ethnic, cultural, religious, health and educational needs of the child.
 Suitability of accommodation.
 Ability to balance the needs and lifestyles of the people in the household
 Provide a healthy and safe place to live
 Understand and respect confidentiality and privacy
 Keep clear and accurate records
 Commitment to professional development to include ongoing training and attendance 

at support groups
 Access and ability to use basic computer communication systems

Preparation of applicants 
All applicants, other than those recruited for specific children as relatives or friends of the 
child, must attend basic training (Skills to Foster) prior to presentation to the Fostering Panel.  
The primary focus of this course will be the fostering task in relation to the needs of children 
requiring placement.  A report of each applicant’s participation in the course in relation to the 
content of each session will be included in the final report to panel and will form part of the 
assessment process.

Page 62



V1 06.12.16

Approval process
The fostering Panel will hear all applications presented, and will make a recommendation.  
The recommendation is considered by the Agency Decision Maker who will make the final 
decision. The function of Kent Fostering Panels is determined by the Kent Fostering Panels 
Terms of Reference.  Applicants are required to attend the Panel.

Review of Panel decisions 
Applicants will be informed verbally and in writing as to whether they have been approved as 
foster carers, and the terms of approval, once they have been presented to the panel and 
decision maker.  If the decision is not to approve the applicant, he/she will be informed 
verbally and in writing and will be given 28 days to make written representations asking that 
the decision be reviewed. 

Alternatively the applicant can request a review of the decision by The Independent Review 
Mechanism (IRM). 

The applicant can only apply for one of these options.

For other matters where an applicant disagrees with the decision, he/she may make written 
representations within 28 days of receiving notice, the matter will be reconsidered at Panel, or 
at the IRM and a final decision made by the Agency Decision Maker.  Where applicants have 
asked in writing for a review of the decision they may attend panel to present their written 
representations in person. 

Where applicants attend panel they may bring a friend or colleague to provide support 
however due regard to third party information and confidentiality will always be paramount 
and panel chairs will have discretion with regard to a supporter being present for all of the 
panel.  Applicants may not bring legal representation to Panel under any circumstances.

Foster Carer agreement (Terms and Conditions)
Following approval an agreement between Kent Children’s Social Services and the foster 
carers will be drawn up in accordance with standard procedures.  The agreement sets out the 
terms and conditions for Kent foster carers, the Fostering Service and Kent Children’s Social 
Services.   Fostering social workers need to ensure that newly approved foster carers 
understand fully the expectations of them under the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Management and development of foster carers
Following approval the Area Fostering Support teams have responsibility to manage, 
supervise, support, develop, monitor and review its carers.

Foster carers have the most important role to play within the Fostering Service and are critical 
to KCC efforts to achieve positive outcomes for Children in Care.

KCC actively seeks to recognise the very important contribution made by foster carers through 
provision of supervision, training, and formal recognition.  These include:

 Regular contact with the Fostering teams
 Mentor for new foster carers
 Monthly local support groups which foster carers are strongly encouraged to attend
 Mandatory and optional training opportunities, with funding provided for child care where 

necessary
 Local Area Advisory Groups

Page 63



V1 06.12.16

 County Fostering Advisory Group.

New Carers Induction 
A new carer’s induction workshop is held throughout the year in each area and this is a 
requirement for all new carers to attend.

Supervision and monitoring 
Kent’s Fostering Service is responsible for ensuring the quality of placements and foster carers 
will receive regular supervision by a named member of staff in the Fostering Support Team. 
New Carers will be allocated a “mentor” (experienced carer) and details of support groups 
provided including KFCA (Kent Foster Care Association).  Foster carers can expect to have 
formal supervision with their Fostering Social worker on a 4 - 6 weekly basis. Additional 
Supervision will be discussed as felt necessary.  The primary responsibility of the Fostering 
team in supervising foster carers is to ensure the welfare of the child.

Fostering social workers will also carry out as a minimum one unannounced visit a year as 
part of their monitoring and quality assurance function and use this opportunity to check the 
accommodation.

Holiday Entitlement. 
Kent Foster Carers are entitled to 14 night’s paid annual leave, pro rata where they will 
receive the professional reward/fee. Carers can decide to either take the 14 nights as a one 
off payment which they can use towards the cost of a family holiday for all the children or if 
agreed, alternative arrangements can be made for the care of the children to enable the 
carers to have a break. This will either be with relief carers or registered respite foster carers 
within the service. Relief carers should be identified by the main carers and assessed by their 
fostering social worker. Relief carers will be approved as appropriate to care for the child, by 
the Service Manager in the area.  

Annual review of approval 
Foster carers' approval is reviewed on an annual basis, or more frequently where required.  
Re-approval of foster carers is not automatic, and where issues of concern have arisen the 
decision regarding whether approval will be renewed may be referred to the Fostering Panel.  
For all new foster carers, the first Annual Review will be presented to the Fostering Panel as a 
matter of course.

Foster carers will receive unannounced visits from the social worker for any child placed with 
them, as well as unannounced visits from the fostering service.

DBS checks will be renewed every 3 years (or earlier if required). Other checks may be carried 
out at point of Review if necessary.

Fostering Review Team
Independent senior practitioners will Chair foster carers reviews, co-ordinate the completion 
of the report and ensure feedback is obtained from children, young people and other relevant 
professionals.

Carer Support Groups 
Monthly support groups are held within the local area and facilitated by the fostering support 
team. It is expected that all carers will attend a minimum of 75%.

Page 64



V1 06.12.16

Foster carers are encouraged to develop networks of support including the Kent Foster Care 
Association (KFCA).

Equipment
KCC operates an equipment loan scheme to provide nursery equipment to foster carers.  This 
is outlined in Guidelines for the Provision of Equipment on Loan for Foster Children.

The fostering service will also facilitate provision of specialist equipment required to 
accommodate any special needs or disability of individual children.

Participation and activity days for children and young people
Foster carers will be expected to support the children / young people in their care, to attend a 
minimum of three participation activity days per year, organised through VSK, OYPC or KFCA.

Training 
Training is a continual process and all Kent foster carers will be offered new training and 
training to update their skills on a regular basis following approval.  Carers will be required to 
complete the evidenced based Training Support and Development Standards work book within 
the first year of approval (first 18 months for connected persons).  The fostering service 
provides a training pathway, including qualification based training.  Carers will also be 
encouraged to access additional training “on line.”

The foster carer’s training needs will be identified as part of their Personal Development Plan 
and intended to develop their skills and knowledge and to ensure that they can meet their 
obligations under the Foster Carer Agreement.  Failure to attend training that has been 
identified as appropriate could place continued registration as a foster carer at risk.

Kent foster carers will be presented with certificates for the training courses they have 
attended.  The Fostering Service will keep a training record for each carer.

Foster carers will be part of the Foster Carer Training Steering Group and involved in the 
design of training.

Managing complaints and allegations against foster carers 
Foster carers are required to meet high standards of care.  They are not permitted to use any 
kind of physical punishment and KCC expects high standards of behaviour from them at all 
times, regardless of the difficulties presented by some of the children they look after.

Children in care in any form of substitute care are vulnerable to abuse and exploitation and 
have the same right to protection from abuse as all other children.

However, it is not always clear at the start whether allegations made against carers are in fact 
a child protection matter or an issue of complaint.  Complaints and allegations will be dealt 
with following the Allegations and Complaints against Foster Carers procedures. 

Support arrangements for carers subject to complaint or allegations
It is recognised that being the subject of a complaint or allegation can be an extremely 
stressful experience for foster carers

The impact of allegations and complaints on foster carers and their families will vary in 
relation to the nature of the allegation/complaint, potential consequences, previous 
experiences, and the extent of additional stress on the foster carer.

Page 65



V1 06.12.16

KCC has commissioned Foster Talk to offer telephone support 24/7, offering practical and 
legal advice.  The fostering service will also allocate a  trained “ peer support” to support the 
carer.  These peer supporters will be experienced foster carers who have been specifically 
trained.  Each area support team will hold a list of peer support carers in their local area.

Managing whistle blowing and complaints by foster carers 
KCC has a ‘whistle blowing policy’ in relation to staff practice.  The principles of this policy 
should be followed in relation to confidential disclosures made by foster carers, and are 
summarised as follows:

Should a foster carer become concerned about poor practice, and feel that it is not 
appropriate to discuss these concerns with the person in question in the first instance, he/she 
should:

 With regard to significant concerns about another foster carer, speak to his/her own 
supervising social worker who will follow up accordingly.  This should happen immediately, 
as in some situations prompt action may be needed.

 With regard to significant concerns about a member of staff, contact the staff member's 
immediate line manager directly.

Examples of significantly poor practice that could prompt a confidential disclosure include:

 Neglect or emotional, physical, or sexual maltreatment of a child
 Providing a poor standard of care to a child
 Conduct which may be an offence or breach of law
 Health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as other employees
 Discrimination of any kind

Every effort will be made to protect the confidentiality of any carer who raises a concern and 
does not want their name to be disclosed.  It must be appreciated that the investigation 
process may reveal the source of the information and a statement by the individual may be 
required as part of the evidence for any formal proceedings.

Concerns expressed by foster carers should be recorded in writing.  The extent and nature of 
investigation will depend on the circumstances of the specific concern; however, foster carers 
can expect to receive feedback regarding investigation and outcome.

Foster carers are also able to make a formal complaint about any aspect of the services 
provided by Kent Children’s Social Services.  Further detail regarding how to make a formal 
complaint is included in the Fostering Handbook.

Termination of approval of foster carers 
On rare occasions KCC may also wish to terminate a foster carer's approval.  Grounds for 
termination of approval include:

 Consistently poor care of a child, or a pattern of poor care affecting a number of children
 Conviction for any offence which indicates that a child could be at risk in the individual's 

care
 Evidence that a foster carer has neglected or emotionally, physically, or sexually abused a 

child
 Consistent and significant failure to comply with Kent County Council policies and 

procedures, including attendance at required training

Page 66



V1 06.12.16

 Financial misconduct in relation to any fostering payments made or financial support 
provided for a child's benefit

 Serious physical or psychological ill-health of a carer that prevents him/her being able to 
care for a child appropriately 

Where there is an allegation against a carer which is unfounded or unsubstantiated the local 
authority reserve the right to consider the implications for children and young people, should 
the carer continue to foster. 

Page 67



V1 06.12.16

SECTION 3

 REFERRAL, PLACEMENT AND SUPPORT OF LOOKED AFTER 
CHILDREN

Safeguarding
Children’s safety and welfare will be promoted and they will be protected from abuse and 
neglect, and learn appropriate boundaries in relationships with others.  The aim is for the 
child to develop a sense of belonging and feel secure.  Children are entitled to grow up as 
part of a loving family, which can meet their needs during childhood, and beyond. 

The fostering service will work in partnership with other agencies concerned with 
safeguarding including health and education to promote the welfare of children.

Children will be helped to understand how to keep themselves safe including when outside of 
the household or when using the internet or social media.

Prospective foster carers will have a health and safety assessment of their home, and will be 
expected to address any deficiencies before a child is placed.  

Foster carers will be trained in safe care practice, and a specific safe care plan will be drawn 
up for each child placed.  This will include consideration of how other members of the family 
and household can contribute to safe care. Training on CSE is mandatory for all carers of 
children aged 11 years and over. Prevent training is mandatory for all foster carers. 

KCC Procedures for Allegations and Complaints against Foster Carers will be followed where 
there are any concerns.

Valuing diversity 
KCC Culturally Competent Care guidance will be used as a basis for recruitment and 
assessment of carers, and provision of placements that will meet the diverse needs of 
children.

Each child/young person will have access to a fostering service that recognises and addresses 
their needs in terms of gender, religion, ethnic origin, language, culture, disability and 
sexuality.  Placement Plans and decisions will consider the child’s assessed health, racial, 
ethnic, religious, cultural and linguistic needs and match these as closely as possible with the 
ethnic origin, race, religion culture and language of the foster family.

If a foster placement has to be made in an emergency and no suitable match is available 
steps should be taken to achieve a better match within six weeks if it is considered to be in 
the child’s best interest to do so.

Where trans racial or trans community placements are made, KCC will provide the foster carer 
with additional support and information to enable the child to be provided with the best 
possible care and develop a positive understanding of their heritage.  Additional training may 
be offered to foster carers to enable them to meet the child’s needs.  

Page 68



V1 06.12.16

Disabled Children
When families are recruited and matched with disabled children careful consideration will be 
given to the child’s culture and specialist advice will be taken during the assessment, 
preparation and placement planning process.  This may include access to interpreters, 
specialist equipment, and assistance with transport. An occupational therapist will complete 
an assessment of accommodation for all new applicants, looking to care for children with a 
disability. 

Preparation for placement
The Permanency Procedures and guidance should be followed for all children irrespective of 
the planned length of placement and a permanency planning meeting should happen prior to 
entry into care.  The child’s social worker and the fostering social worker will ensure that the 
child is helped to understand what to expect from living in the foster home, and is given the 
appropriate children’s guides.  When English is not the child’s first language or there is 
learning, hearing or communication impairments, assistance will be provided to ensure that 
counselling and preparation is appropriately given. 

Information about the foster carer and their household will be given to the child before they 
are placed.  Whenever possible children should be enabled to visit the foster carer’s home 
before placement begins.  In an emergency, at a minimum the foster carer’s profile will be 
emailed by the Fostering Support team to the child’s social worker so this can be discussed 
with the child before they arrive.

Children will be encouraged to bring favourite possessions with them.

The Children in Care Planned and Unplanned admissions to foster carer checklist should be 
followed by the child’s social worker.  

Foster carers will explain household rules and expectations to the child, including access to 
household facilities.

Gathering of memorabilia for the child will begin at the point that the child is placed.  When a 
child is leaving a placement they will be helped to understand why, and supported in the 
move to their new placement, independent living or return home.  The checklist for social 
workers – Change of Placement should be followed by the child’s social worker.  Foster carers 
will be supported to maintain links with children, in line with their care plan.

Information provided to foster carers 
Placement referral information, matching and risk assessment details should be given to 
carers at point of placement.  A placement arrangement meeting including permissions for 
delegated authority must be completed within 5 working days. 

Promoting positive behaviour
Foster carers will receive training to enable them to understand the feelings and behaviours of 
Children in Care, and are expected to follow the Promoting Positive Behaviour policy and 
procedures.  Training in safe methods of restraint will be available to carers who care for 
particularly challenging children.  In accordance with the policy, carers should not use 
restraint without training (other than when necessary to safeguard the child or others from 
physical harm and only in exceptional circumstances).  Foster carers are expected to promote 
and model positive behaviour.

Page 69



V1 06.12.16

Children who are in foster care will be encouraged to make friends, participate in sports and 
outdoor activities, stay overnight with friends, and explore the world appropriately without 
excessive constraints.

The wishes, views and feeling of children 
Children’s wishes, views and feelings will be taken into account, with regard to their age and 
understanding, unless this is contrary to their interests.  Where it is not possible to act upon 
their wishes, they will have clear explanation and support.  

The wishes and feelings of children and young people with disabilities, special educational 
needs or complex needs will be fully recognised and taken into account when decisions are 
made about them.  The wishes of pre-verbal or non-verbal children will be established 
carefully by their social worker, based on their behaviour and other means of communication.  
Children and young people where English is not their first language, or who have disabilities 
that may impact on their communication will be provided with interpreters, signers or other 
support as needed.  Foster carers must be supported to communicate with the child or young 
person.

Information for children should be translated into a medium that they can understand.

The child’s social worker will assist the child to complete their feedback on the placement for 
the foster carer’s annual review and when a placement ends.

Children will be supported, and enabled, to contact their Independent Reviewing Officer on 
request, and will be given information on how to access the independent complaints service.  

Health 
Children will have prompt access to doctors and other health professionals, including mental 
health and specialist services when they are needed.  The child’s health will be promoted in 
accordance with their placement plan, health assessments, and health plan.  Foster carers are 
required to attend health appointments with the child, and to notify the child’s social worker if 
for any reason an appointment has to be cancelled. An Initial Health assessment must be 
requested within 5 days of a child being placed and completed within 28 days. Foster carers 
are required to support and facilitate the IHA. 

Foster carers are required to complete Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire’s on an annual 
basis and return to Virtual School Kent. http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/contact-us 
All children must be registered with a G.P. and a dentist, and with an optician if necessary.  
Foster carers will have access to training on the administration and recording of medication.

Foster carers should have written permission from someone with parental responsibility to 
administer first aid and non-prescription medication and will be clear through the placement 
plan about what decisions are delegated to them and when consent for medical treatment 
needs to be obtained.  Foster carers will also receive training on administration of medication, 
health promotion and first aid.

Children will be supported to make informed decisions about their own health, and a healthy 
lifestyle.  The wishes and feelings of children will be sought and taken into account in their 
health care, according to their understanding.

Page 70

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/contact-us


V1 06.12.16

Leisure 
Carers must create a stimulating environment to develop the emotional, intellectual, social, 
creative and physical skills of children.  Children will be supported to take part in school 
based, and out of school activities including individual interests and hobbies, this will include 
trips. Children will be supported by their foster carer to attend as a minimum 3 participation 
events per year. 

Savings and Pocket Money
All foster carers will follow the policy for savings and pocket money for children in their care.

Promoting educational attainment
Children will be supported to attend school, and in their learning during and beyond the 
school day.  Carers must attend parents meetings and advocate for the child with schools, 
colleges and other educational establishments.

Contact arrangements 
During the course of the placement contact will be promoted with parents, relatives, 
especially siblings, and friends of the child unless this is not in the child’s interests.  Contact 
arrangements will be set out in the placement and care plan, and also within short break care 
plans.  The wishes and feelings of the child will be taken into consideration.  

Kent’s Contact Policy and Procedures set out the considerations and requirements regarding 
contact and should be used to inform contact plans.  

Contact arrangements will be considered and discussed with birth parents.  This will include 
explanation of the contact arrangements under the Adoption & Children Act when Authority to 
Place (Placement Order or Authorised Consent) is gained. 

Recruitment and assessment of foster carers will consider their ability to manage the level of 
contact a child needs.  Foster carer will be prepared to understand the effects of unauthorised 
contact, including through online social networks, and offered support in case this happens.

Contact facilitated within a foster carers home must be risk assessed and a contact agreement 
completed with the foster carer and birth family, by the child’s social worker and fostering 
social worker.

Siblings 
Social workers will complete a sibling assessment prior to requesting a fostering placement.  
In matching siblings with foster carers the permanency planning must be taken into account.  
If the care plan is to place siblings together, where this is not possible, foster carers will be 
identified that can actively promote direct face to face sibling contact. 

Change of Placements 
Children will not be moved if the carer is willing to continue caring for the child unless it is 
decided through the child’s care planning process, considered at a CIC review and takes the 
child’s current wishes and feelings into account.

Placement Stability
Where it is identified that there may be a potential placement breakdown, the fostering social 
worker or child’s social worker will call a Stability Core group meeting.

Page 71



V1 06.12.16

Add link to Sense of Belonging Policy.

Disruptions 
The child and carer’s family will be supported in order to avoid placement disruption, (i.e. a 
breakdown in the placement where the child has to be removed).  If, despite all efforts and 
following the stability core group, a placement breaks down, the service will provide support 
to facilitate the transition for both child/ren and the fostering family.  The over-riding 
consideration is the welfare of the child and help will be offered to ensure that the child 
moves in a planned way.  The Disruption Procedures (2012) will be followed.  It is expected 
that carers will give 28 days’ notice that they are no longer able to care for the child (3 
months’ notice for Permanent fostering placements).

Children’s social workers are asked to provide written feedback to the fostering service at the 
end of placements and to inform foster carers annual reviews.

Services available

Kent’s Fostering Service offers a wide range of generic and specialist fostering services to 
meet the needs of children.  Specialist schemes have eligibility criteria and specific referral 
processes that can be obtained through the Fostering Team.  Services include:

 Individual and sibling group placements
All foster carers are approved for specific groups and some are approved for sibling 
groups or specialist schemes

 Task Centred and respite placements
Foster carers are able to prepare children for adoption, rehabilitation home or permanency 
through foster care. 

 Emergency bed placements
A small team of foster carers specialises in short term work and many can accept 
unplanned placements and provide a 24 hour, 7 days a week, crisis service.

 16+
For older young people entering care who require support in their transition to adulthood, 
the service will recruit carers who will work with these young people to support their 
independence.

 Parent and child placements
Foster carers give comprehensive support to the parents and children and are available to 
accommodate mothers and/or fathers and their babies offering the ability to contribute to 
a comprehensive assessment of the parenting skills of the placed adult.

In addition to the tasks that foster carers would normally undertake, the recruited carers 
will contribute to the assessment of the Parent/Child relationship and assist with the 
development of parenting skills at a more intensive level.

It is important that the assessment is undertaken in a professional and objective manner 
to gain the confidence of both the courts and other professionals in the use of foster 
carers for this task.
The Parent/Child foster placements offer a number of advantages over a residential 
placement

Page 72



V1 06.12.16

 Consistent support in a family environment
 Parents able to maintain links with Local Networks
 Foster carers able to support post placement
 Continuity of care for baby/child if outcome is separation from parent 
 Cost effective
 Consistent delivery of Models of assessment.

 Short breaks for disabled children
Children who are disabled living at home will be supported by a number of specialist 
services to help them access the same or similar opportunities as all children.  Emphasis 
will be focused on early intervention and supporting users and carers within their own life 
structure by developing local community based services.  The aim is to provide a positive 
experience for the child whilst giving parents and carers a break.

 Relative/friend placements (Connected Carers)
It is Kent policy that wherever possible children should be placed with relatives or friends.  
A full fostering assessment and approval of the relatives or friends should be undertaken 
prior to placement of a Looked after Child.  In an emergency, when it is considered to be 
in the child’s interest to be placed before this can be done, then an assessment as a 
temporary carer must be completed by the child’s social worker, and agreed by the 
Nominated Officer.  There is a 16 week period post placement when a full fostering 
assessment and approval must be gained (only in exceptional circumstances can this be 
extended. 

 Permanency 
Kent County Council’s permanent fostering processes provide a formal structure for 
decision making regarding fostering placements that are intended to provide the 
child/young person with stability to adulthood. While not offering the level of legal security 
that an adoption, Special Guardianship or Child Arrangements Order can provide, use of 
the formal process is intended to quality assure, safeguard and support the child’s 
placement.

Foster carers will be recruited to offer permanency for children and young people up until 
the age of 18 years. Children will be matched to foster carers at the point of entry into 
care who can offer permanency through fostering should that become the agreed 
permanency care plan. Permanency planning meetings should commence pre-entry into 
care and be attended by fostering and adoption dependent on the child’s age. Kent’s 
Staying Together Policy which supports permanence for older children and those with 
complex or diverse needs should be considered.

It is important for social workers to remember that the primary purpose of fostering is to 
care for children on a short-term basis to support a rehabilitation plan or other 
permanence plan.  However, in some circumstances where returning to the birth family is 
not an option, it may become clear that it is in the best interests of a child to remain in a 
foster home where they have been successfully settled for some time.  In these 
circumstances it may be appropriate for foster carers to provide permanency to children 
through applying to the Court for a Residence Order or Special Guardianship Order, or 
adoption.  Kent’s Staying Together Policy which supports permanence for older children 
and those with complex or diverse needs should be considered.

Page 73

http://trixresources.proceduresonline.com/nat_key/keywords/special_guardianship_order.html
http://trixresources.proceduresonline.com/nat_key/keywords/chi_arrange_orders.html


V1 06.12.16

Procedure for the Placement of a Child
Duty system 
All Placements are accessed through the Access to Resources Team (ART).  A duty fostering 
social worker can also be contacted directly until midnight and at weekends.  This service is 
for both receiving new referrals and dealing with emergencies for existing placements.  

Access to Resources Team (ART)
All placement requests within Kent are made to the Access to Resources Team (ART).  The 
primary function of the team is to provide a ‘one stop shop’ for all placement referrals across 
the county.  Secondly to ensure that referrals are of a good standard to promote the most 
appropriate placement match for the child including a comprehensive risk assessment.  The 
completed referral will be subject to quality assurance process.  The team provides access to 
in house placements, independent fostering providers and residential placements.  

Once the referral is accepted a search will be undertaken to ascertain whether an in-house 
placement is available that appears to be appropriate to meet the child's needs.  If such a 
placement is available or if there is a possibility of a placement by the required date, the 
social worker will be advised accordingly.  Once the placement has been accepted by the 
social worker, liaison regarding actual placement details, placement meetings etc. will take 
place between the fostering social worker, child’s social worker and foster carer(s). 

Where there is a child already in the proposed foster placement, contact should be made with 
the social worker for that child to establish their views on the proposed placement.  

Matching carer and child 
An important part of the referral process will be the successful matching of carers and child.   
A good match will depend upon the quality of the information that is available to share with 
the potential carer.  No information relating to the child or family should be withheld from the 
fostering team or the foster carers.  Where there are concerns about information sharing this 
needs to be reviewed with the fostering service in the context of a risk assessment in relation 
to the foster carer, their family and family networks.  In the rare circumstances of withholding 
information the decision to do this must be agreed by the Service Manager and recorded on 
the child's file.  The assessment of the child should be complete and up to date.  

Matching will be recorded within the Placement Plan form identifying any additional support 
that needs to be provided to the foster carers to meet the needs of the child.  The placement 
matching will highlight the strengths and vulnerabilities in the match and how these will be 
managed within the placement.  The referral and matching form should inform the individual 
Safe Care Plan for the child/young person, the Placement Planning Meeting and Child in Care 
Reviews. 

Planned Placements 
The child’s social worker will provide detailed information on the child(ren) and conditions of 
placement required.  They will be responsible for ensuring that, wherever practical, each child 
will be consulted about the placement options available and, if possible, have a profile and or 
introductory visit to the carer, prior to placement

Emergency Placement (Emergency Bed Scheme) 
In an emergency and at short notice, and if satisfied that the placement will safeguard and 
promote the welfare of the child, the Fostering Service will place a child with a foster carer for 
a period of seven days during which time the social worker will complete their sections of the 

Page 74



V1 06.12.16

Placement Information Referral and placement planning arrangements to ensure that the 
carer has sufficient information to enable them to care for the child.

Placement Planning Meeting
This is a crucial statutory meeting of all involved parties to ensure that essential information is 
exchanged and plans for the day to day care of the child are in place.  It is a requirement of 
the Care Planning and Fostering Regulations (2015) that this meeting takes place before the 
child is placed or within 5 days of placement.  As the Placement Arrangements Meeting is the 
forum for sharing information and negotiating care and contact arrangements, children can 
suffer as a result of delays. 

The meeting will be chaired by the Fostering Social Worker who will ensure the foster carers 
attendance but the child's social worker is responsible for inviting the child, the parents, and if 
appropriate representatives from Health and Education.  Part one of the referral information, 
placement request and delegated authority sections of the Placement Plan are completed by 
the child’s social worker on the child’s electronic record (Liberi) and the Placement 
Arrangements section and matching is undertaken by the fostering social worker.

The Placement Arrangement meeting is the opportunity to clarify roles and responsibilities 
regarding contact, the child's education support, transport arrangements, information and 
recording, health care, special needs and the day to day care of the child or young person. 

Financial arrangements
Foster carers receive a maintenance payment for each child they care for; this should be 
spent on the day to day care of the child which includes contribution to household bills, 
leisure activities, transport, clothing and pocket money and savings add link.  There is an 
element built into the maintenance to also cover birthdays, Christmas/religious holidays and 
festivals as well as annual holidays.

For carers who are eligible for the professional fee this will be paid according to the age of the 
child.

Travel claims should be submitted no later than one month following the date of the claim

In exceptional circumstances a carer can receive an advanced payment of up to a £100 at the 
time that the placement commences e.g. a child placed with no belongings in an emergency.

Where a child meets the criteria, a single placement supplement (which is an additional 
payment to hold one placement as a vacancy), may be considered.  This must be reviewed 
regularly and at a minimum of twice a year.

Payments to carers are set up by the fostering social worker and are paid weekly.  
Any over payments should be advised to the Fostering Payments Teams immediately this is 
identified, and arrangements made to pay this back.  Where there are underpayments these 
should be reported immediately to the fostering social worker in order that this is rectified 
quickly.  

Progression through the Payment for Skills Scheme is available to eligible carers which would 
be identified through their personal development plan and annual review.

Supporting a child in placement
The child's social worker or authorised representative is required by regulation to visit the 

Page 75



V1 06.12.16

child in the foster home:

 As circumstances may require 
 When reasonably requested by the child or foster carers 
 Within one week of the beginning of the placement
 In the first year of the placement at intervals of not less than six weeks
 When a placement has been formally agreed as permanent, visits from the second year 

onwards can be at intervals of not less than every three months
 Where a child is placed with a temporarily approved relative or friend, visits must be 

weekly until the first review, and then at intervals of no more than 4 weeks until the carer 
is fully approved as a foster carer.

Where placements have been made immediately or as emergency (Placement Plan Meeting 
did not take place prior to placement) the social worker is required to visit the child at least 
once every week.  

On each visit the social worker is required to see the child alone (unless the child is of 
sufficient maturity and refuses). Even then they should be encouraged to meet with their 
Social Worker and to prepare a written report. 

The child’s social worker should also promote a positive working relationship with the foster 
carers. 

Monitoring of the Service
Fostering standards are monitored through

 Foster Carer supervision
 Unannounced visits
 Foster Carer annual reviews
 Fostering Panels
 Allegations and complaints/compliments
 Feedback forms for children
 Feedback forms from social workers
 Feedback from foster carers
 Ofsted
 County Foster Carer Advisory Board 
 Local advisory groups
 Partnership working with Kent Foster Carers Association
 Quality Assurance and Auditing
 Management Oversight and Staff Supervision

Page 76



Appendix 1
Centralised Fostering Service
Specialist Children’s Services

V1 06.12.16

East

Pre-Approval & 
Assessment Team 2 
Kroner House, Ashford

Mim Nichols 
Team Manager 

Disabled Children’s 
Fostering & Short Breaks

Kroner House, Ashford
Tracy Burroughs
Team Manager

Senior Admin 
Officer

Mary Hilden 

Head of Fostering
Registered Manager

Caroline Smith 

Pre-Approval & 
Assessment Team 1 Brook 

House, Whitstable
Maria Cordrey  

Team Manager 

Senior Practitioners 
Emma Blesky 

Jo Moore 
Robert Attwell 

 (2FTE)

Panel Co-ordinator 
Doz Naylor

(x1 FTE)

Social Workers 
Cheryl Russell 
Holly Knight 

Sharon Gunson 
Helen Vassie 

(x4 FTE)

Panel Administrators 
Pat Harris 

Mel D’Ardenne 
Dawn Heather 

Jessica Batchelor 
(x3 FTE)

Senior Practitioners 
Sally Clegg 

Rosie Coulson 
 (2 FTE)

Social Workers 
Michael Ffoulkes 

Sarah Griffin 
Samantha Stevens 

(x4 FTE)

Panel Administrators 
Irene Spinner 

Lisa Hall 
Vacancy
(X3 FTE)

Panel Co-ordinator 
Debbie Packham 

(x1 FTE) Senior Practitioner 
Vacancy

TRP

Recruitment & 
Retention Co-ordinator  

(Kroner House, Ashford) 
Chris Clark 

(x1 FTE)

Training Co-ordinator 
(Worrall House, Kings Hill, 

West Malling)
Sue Douglas

(x1 FTE) 

Admin Officer 
Helen Fowle 

(x1 FTE)

Social Workers 
Veronica Smith 
Fiona Reynolds 
Julia Stoward 

(x3 FTE)

Senior Practitioner 
Leonie Knight 

IET Advisors 
Lynda Ham 

Coleen Tanswell 
(x1 FTE)

Fostering Review Team 
Kroner House, Ashford

Liz Maxted  
Team Manager 

Senior Practitioner 
Karen Shepherd 

Rita Wilcox 
Lisa Colyer 

Sharon Eldridge 
Khanyo Hlengwa  

(x5 FTE)

Admin Officer 
Stacey Rickwood 

(X1 FTE)

P
age 77



Appendix 2
Fostering Support Teams
Specialist Children’s Services

V1 06.12.16

East Kent 1 PA
Susan Murray 

Assistant Director
Karen Graham

Children and Young People Service 
Manager
Carrie Bill

Fostering Support Team Manager
Catarina Dechaine

Admin Support
Margaret King 
Lynn Godfrey 

Fostering Senior 
Practitioners

Frances Hussey

Fostering Social Workers
Ben Timson

Jemma Smith
Ola Aderiye 

Elisabeth Rose 
Tamsin Alliston 

P
age 78



Appendix 2
Fostering Support Teams
Specialist Children’s Services

V1 06.12.16

East Kent 2
 

PA
Kellie Fasham-HughesAssistant Director

Karen Graham

Children and Young People Service 
Manager

Anne Nerva

Fostering Support Team 
Manager

Gemma McFarlane

Admin Support
Lisa Barnsley

Anne Lawrence

Fostering Senior 
Practitioners

Dawn Buckland
Elizabeth Newstead

Fostering Social Workers
June Harrison

Siobhan Lawrence
Anthony McManus

Tim O’Donnell

Fostering social work 
assistant’s

Karen Cronin
Fran Read

P
age 79



Appendix 2
Fostering Support Teams
Specialist Children’s Services

V1 06.12.16

East Kent 3
 

PA
Susan Murray

Janice Lee Miller

Assistant Director
Karen Graham

Children and Young People Service 
Manager
Carrie Bill

Fostering Support Team 
Manager

Sheila Will

Admin Support
EK1EKFostSuppAdmin@kent.gov.

uk

Fostering Senior 
Practitioners

Ana Camacho
Marta Salavera

Michelle Dennis (TRP Lead)

Fostering Social Workers

Nicholas Carter
Murphy Thomas

Gina Haxell
Mike Wynne 

Tracy Ward FSWA
Ellen Lane (TRP Support)

P
age 80

mailto:EK1EKFostSuppAdmin@kent.gov.uk
mailto:EK1EKFostSuppAdmin@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 2
Fostering Support Teams
Specialist Children’s Services

V1 06.12.16

North Kent

 

PA
Angela Freere

Assistant Director
Mark Thorn

Children and Young People Service 
Manager

Sarah Whittaker 

Fostering Support Team 
Manager

Ranjit Kang

Admin Officers
Stella Brown 
Hilary Blythe 

Fostering Senior 
Practitioners
Liz Mowbray
Teresa Lane

Fostering Social Workers
Val Hodgson

Steve Brookman
Marina Lewis 

Pam Rama
Tess Vernon

Maria Mannio 

Social Work Assistants
Jackey Lorimer
Lynn Hughes 

TRP Support Worker
Aileen Hewitt

P
age 81



Appendix 2
Fostering Support Teams
Specialist Children’s Services

V1 06.12.16

South Kent 1
 

PA
Katy Sandercock

Assistant Director
Stephen Fitzgerald

Children and Young People Service 
Manager

Rebecca Ransley

SK 1 Fostering Support Team 
Manager

Chipo Mukoki

Admin Support
Michelle Godfrey

Fostering Senior 
Practitioners

Glynis Statham
Sonja van Rooyen
Ana-Sofia Vieira

Fostering Social Workers
Lynda Beard 

Janet Lee
Joyce Torbohm

Lucy Harris

Fostering Social Worker 
Assistants

Nicola Hammond
Lyn Chapman

Cassandra Storey

P
age 82



Appendix 2
Fostering Support Teams
Specialist Children’s Services

V1 06.12.16

South Kent 2
 

PA
Katy Sandercock

Assistant Director
Stephen Fitzgerald

Children and Young People Service 
Manager

Rebecca Ransley

SK2 Fostering Support Team 
Manager

Siobhan Hamilton

Admin Support
Sue LastFostering Senior 

Practitioners
Amanda Jobey

Morag Robinson 

Fostering Social Workers
Carol Cracknell

Steve Peck
Winifred Akhigbemen

Liz Murphy 

Fostering Social Worker 
Assistants
Colin Wells

P
age 83



Appendix 2
Fostering Support Teams
Specialist Children’s Services

V1 06.12.16

West Kent 
 

PA
Jill Fennell

Assistant Director
Sarah Hammond

Children and Young People Service 
Manager

Brigid Sharp

Fostering Support Team 
Manager

Sue Roberts Hughes 

Admin Support
Nikki Dyer 

Hilary Blythe 
Fostering Senior 

Practitioners
Enitan Kuti 

Bovey Watson 
Kelly Goodwin (

Fostering Social Workers
Andrea Farrington

Ruth Hills 
Aislinn Cooper

Londiwe Shabalala
Zandile Nhlela 

Julie Tobin 
Charlotte Burchett (SWA)

P
age 84


	Agenda
	2 Terms of Reference and Membership
	5 Minutes of the meetings of the Panel held on 20 March and 25 May 2017 (the latter to follow)
	8 Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards
	9 Advocacy and Independent Visitors Services, provided by the Young Lives Foundation - report on activity 2016/17
	Item 9 - CP Report  Appendix 1 - Advocacy Service Report
	Item 9 - CP Report Appendix 2 - IV Report

	11 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 11 - Appx CIC Performance Report - March 2017
	Title Page
	Guidance Notes
	Scorecard
	Demographics
	Trend Graphs
	Education Graphs
	Education Factors
	Initial HA
	RIs in Timescale


	12 Statement of Purpose - Fostering Service
	Item 12 - Appx 1 Fostering Service Statement of Purpose


